The Vault

https://prism.ucalgary.ca

Open Theses and Dissertations

2013-10-02

# Nitric Oxide Mediated Antiviral Response in Avian Cells

Haddadi, Siamak

Haddadi, S. (2013). Nitric Oxide Mediated Antiviral Response in Avian Cells (Master's thesis, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada). Retrieved from https://prism.ucalgary.ca. doi:10.11575/PRISM/27106 http://hdl.handle.net/11023/1086 Downloaded from PRISM Repository, University of Calgary

### UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

# Nitric Oxide Mediated Antiviral Response in Avian Cells

by

Siamak Haddadi

A THESIS

# SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

#### VETERINARY MEDICAL SCIENCES GRADUATE PROGRAM

# CALGARY, ALBERTA

SEPTEMBER, 2013

© Siamak Haddadi 2013

#### ABSTRACT

LPS activates TLR4 signaling pathway eliciting antiviral host responses in mammals although information on such responses in avian species is scarce. Objectives of the work described in the thesis were to 1. characterize the LPS induced expression of LPS receptors and NO in two avian cell lines, LMH and MQ-NCSU, and 2. observe whether NO can elicit antiviral response against ILTV replication. We found that LPS was capable of inducing the expression of TLR4, CD14 and NO production only in MQ-NCSU cells. We also showed that TLR4 mediated NO production in MQ-NCSU cells confers antiviral response against ILTV in susceptible LMH cells. Using a selective inhibitor of inducible NO synthase and a NO donor as a source of NO, we confirmed that this effect is positively correlated with NO. Our data showed that LPS can be a potential innate immune stimulant that can be used against ILTV infection in chickens. **Key words**: infectious laryngotracheitis virus, lipopolysaccharide, nitric oxide, TLR4

#### PREFACE

This thesis is based on the studies done at the Department of Ecosystem and Public Health, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Calgary, Alberta, Canada from September 2011 to August 2013.

Chapter two of this thesis contains materials that are published in the journal, 'Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology': Haddadi, S., Kim, D.-S., Jasmine, H., van der Meer, F., Czub, M., Abdul-Careem, M.F. (2013). Induction of Toll-like receptor 4 signaling in avian macrophages inhibits infectious laryngotracheitis virus replication in a nitric oxide dependent way. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology, 155(4), 270-275.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to acknowledge the University of Calgary, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine for providing me the opportunity to conduct my MSc studies. The majority of this work was kindly funded by the Alberta Livestock and Meat Agency (ALMA) and the Canadian Poultry Research Council (CPRC).

I am forever grateful to my supervisor, Dr. Faizal Careem, and my co-supervisor, Dr. Markus Czub, for not just giving me the opportunity to work in their laboratories, but also for inspiring me to think critically and giving me constructive advice on the delivery of effective oral and written presentations. The feedbacks that were given throughout my studentship are invaluable and will be useful in my future professional career.

I thank the members of my graduate research committee, Dr. Hermann Schaetzl and Dr. Karen Liljebjelke, for providing advice and direction, which have made the completion of this master's thesis possible. In particular, I thank Dr. Frank van der Meer for supporting me intellectually and academically to become more successful during my MSc graduate program. Also, I thank other members of Careem lab, i.e. Stephan Bonfield, Dae-Sun Kim, Amber Kameka, Jasmine Hui for any technical and infrastructural support. Much appreciation also goes to Dr. Rkia Dardari for guiding me in cell culture techniques, Dr. Constance Finney for the guidance on flow cytometry techniques, Dr. Robin Yates (from University of Calgary) and Dr. Shayan Sharif (from University of Guelph) for providing me with macrophage cell lines, flow cytometry core facility at University of Calgary for running flow cytometry samples, and Southern Alberta Cancer Research Institute for kindly allowing me to use micro plate reader for reading my NO assay samples, and other members of Czub, Van der Meer, Van Marle and

Coffin labs who provided an important 'morale' support during my time at University of Calgary.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family, who is always supportive of my every decision, and especially my mother who always encourages me to overcome difficulties and to become successful in my work.

# Siamak Haddadi

ABSTRACTii
PREFACE
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS vi
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES xi
LIST OF SYMBOLS, ABBREVIATIONS, NOMENCLATURESxiii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
1.1 General introduction:
1.2 Innate immune system:
1.3 Pathogen associated molecular patterns:
1.4 Toll-like receptors (TLRs):
1.5 Chicken TLR4 (ChTLR4):
1.6 Toll-like receptors and antiviral response:
1.7 Macrophages:
1.7.1 Avian macrophage cell lines:
1.7.2 Mouse macrophage cell lines:14
1.8 Lipopolysaccharide:
1.9 Nitric oxide (NO):

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.10 Avian infectious laryngotracheitis virus:
1.11 Research questions:
1.12 Hypotheses:
CHAPTER 2: INDUCTION OF TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR 4 SIGNALING IN AVIAN CELLS
INHIBITS INFECTIOUS LARYNGOTRACHEITIS VIRUS REPLICATION IN A NITRIC
OXIDE DEPENDENT WAY
2.1 Abstract:
2.2 Introduction:
2.3 Materials and methods:
2.3.1 Cells and virus:
2.3.2 Cell culture:
2.4 Experimental design:
2.4.1 Propagation and titration of ILTV:
2.4.2 Stimulation of LMH and RAW 264.7 cells with LPS for quantification of NC
production:
2.4.3 Stimulation of macrophages (MQ-NCSU and RAW 264.7) with LPS for quantification
of NO production:
2.4.4 Detection of TLR4 and CD14 expression in LMH cells:
2.4.5 Stimulation of avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) with LPS for quantification of TLR4
and CD14 expression:

2.4.6 Antiviral assay for culture supernatants produced following avian macrophage (MQ-
NCSU) stimulation with LPS in vitro:
2.4.7 Determining the antiviral effect of LPS mediated NO production in vitro:
2.4.8 Determining the antiviral effect of NO using a NO donor in vitro:
2.5 Assay for endotoxin contamination:
2.6 Assay for NO production:
2.7 Flow cytometry:
2.8 Data analysis
2.9 Results:
2.9.1 ILTV replicates and produces cytopathic effects on monolayer of LMH cells:
2.9.2 LMH cells are unable to produce NO following LPS stimulation compared to RAW
264.7 cells:
2.9.3 LMH cells express TLR4 and CD14 constitutively:
2.9.4 Avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) produce NO following treatment with LPS similar to
murine macrophages (RWA 264.7) in a dose dependent manner:
2.9.5 Avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) increase the expression of TLR4 and CD14
following treatment with LPS:
2.9.6 LPS treated culture supernatant of avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) inhibits ILTV
replication in vitro:
2.9.7 NO produced by avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) following LPS treatment inhibits
ILTV replication in vitro:

2.9.8 NO produced spontaneously by SNAP inhibits ILTV replication <i>in vitro</i>
2.9.9 Endotoxin concentration in reagents:
2.10 Discussion:
CHAPTER 3: GENERAL DISCUSSION 56
CONCLUSIONS: 60
BIBLIOGRAPHY:61
APPENDICES 85
Appendix 1: NO measurement using Griess assay 85
Appendix 2. Chemical reagents and kits
Appendix 3: Letter of permission to use the manuscript as a part of MSc thesis

# LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER 1	
Table 1 Chicken toll-like receptors and their ligands	

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 TLR4 signaling pathway in chicken that leads to the induction of antiviral molecules8
Figure 2-1 ILTV replicates and produces cytopathic effects on monolayer of LMH cells34
Figure 2-2 ILTV produces visible plaques in LMH cells
Figure 2-3 LMH cells are unable to produce NO following EC-LPS stimulation
Figure 2-4 LMH cells are unable to produce NO following SE-LPS stimulation37
Figure 2-5 LMH cells express TLR4 and CD14 receptors constitutively
Figure 2-6 Avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) produce NO following treatment with EC-LPS
similar to mouse macrophages in a dose dependent manner
Figure 2-7 Avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) produce NO following treatment with SE-LPS
similar to mouse macrophages in a dose dependent manner
Figure 2-8 Avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) increase the expression of TLR4 and CD14
following treatment with EC-LPS44
Figure 2-9 Avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) increase the expression of TLR4 and CD14
following treatment with SE-LPS45
Figure 2-10 LPS treated culture supernatant of avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) inhibits ILTV
replication in vitro
Figure 2-11 NO produced by avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU cells) following EC-LPS treatment
with different concentrations of SMT

Figure 2-12 NO produced by avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) following LPS treatment inhibits
ILTV replication in vitro
Figure 2-13 NO produced by avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) following LPS treatment inhibits
ILTV replication in vitro
Figure 2-14 NO produced spontaneously by a range of concentrations of SNAP53
Figure 2-15 NO produced spontaneously by SNAP inhibits ILTV replication in vitro

Abbreviations	Definitions
Ab	Antibody
AIV	Avian influenza virus
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AP-1	Activator Protein 1
APC	Ag-presenting cell
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
САМР	Cationic antimicrobial peptide
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CEF	Chicken embryo fibroblast
CpG	Cytosine guanine dinucleotide
d	Days; in formulae: deoxy or distilled
DAMP	Danger associate molecular patterns
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ED	Embryo day
FACS	Fluorescent-activated cell sorter
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FcR	Fc receptor
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate

# LIST OF SYMBOLS, ABBREVIATIONS, NOMENCLATURES

Abbreviations	Definitions	
8	g force	
GPI	Glycosylphosphatidylinositol	
h	Hour	
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus	
HSV-2	Herpes simplex virus -2	
HVT	Herpes virus of turkey	
IBV	Infectious bronchitis virus	
IFN	Interferon	
Ig	Immunoglobulin	
IKK	Ik-kinase	
ΙκΒ	Inhibitory κB	
IL	Interleukin	
ILTV	Infectious laryngotracheitis	
IRAK	IL-1 receptor-associated kinase 4 family proteins	
IRF	Interferon regulatory factors	
ISGs	IFN-stimulated genes	
LBP	LPS-binding protein	
LITAF	Lipopolysaccharide-induced TNF factor	
LMH	Leghorn male hepatocarcinoma cell	
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide	
mAb	Monoclonal antibody	

Abbreviations	Definitions	
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinas	
MD-2	myeloid differentiation protein-2	
MDV	Marek's disease virus	
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex	
min	Minute	
ml	Milliliter	
mRNA	Messenger RNA	
MyD88	Myeloid differentiating factor 88	
NDV	Newcastle disease virus	
NF	Nuclear factor	
NO	Nitric oxide	
OD	Optical density	
РАМР	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern	
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline	
PE	Phycoerythrin	
PFU	Plaque forming units	
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor	
SE	Standard error	
SEM	SE of the mean	
SMT	S-methyl-isothiourea	
SNAP	S-nitroso-N-acetyl-DL-penicillamine	

Abbreviations	Definitions	
SS	Single stranded	
TIR	Toll/IL-1 receptor	
TIRAP	TIR domain containing adaptor protein	
TLR	Toll-like receptor	
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-α	
TRAF6	Tumor necrosis factor receptor associated factor 6	
TRAM	TRIF-related adapter molecule	
TRIF	TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon-β	

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 General introduction:**

Understanding innate antiviral host responses in poultry species is essential for developing strategies for control of viral diseases. Information on potential antiviral mechanisms in poultry is scarce, yet understanding the antiviral mechanisms leading for formulation of control measures are critical, with a view of the negative impact of poultry viruses on poultry production and public health, and the limitations of current control methods available against these viral infections. In this thesis, the antiviral responses elicited by a male leghorn chicken hepatocarcinoma cell line (LMH), and one avian macrophage cell line, a Marek's disease virus (MDV) transformed chicken macrophage cell line (MQ-NCSU), against infectious laryngotracheitis virus (ILTV) were investigated. One of the vital components of the innate immune system that is responsible for activating antiviral response in invertebrate hosts to higher mammals is toll-like receptor (TLRs) and their activation culminate in producing a range of antiviral compounds including nitric oxide (NO). This chapter of the thesis provides an overview of TLRs, specially TLR4 signaling in avian, activation of antiviral mechanisms in this host species, cell lines used for the study and the biology of virus, ILTV used for demonstrating antiviral response in avian cell lines, research questions and hypotheses.

#### **1.2 Innate immune system:**

Host-pathogen interaction triggers a series of responses by the host. Host responses can be classified broadly into 'innate' and 'adaptive' components. Innate immune responses play vital roles in invertebrates as well as in vertebrates. However, the adaptive immune responses are just important in vertebrates. In vertebrates, both innate and adaptive arms of the immune system function in a highly integrated way, and elicit a coordinated response against invading pathogens (Janeway, 2001; Janeway and Medzhitov, 2002). The discovery of functions and components of innate immune system have been recognized as critical contributions to the field of physiology or Medicine by awarding the 2011 Nobel Prize to Bruce Beutler and Jules Haffmann, for their discovery of activation of innate immunity, particularly TLR4 signaling, and Ralph Steinman, for his discovery of the dendritic cell, which is one of the innate immune cells that collaborate with adaptive arm of the immune system (O'Neill et al., 2013).

The immune system is made up of several types of cells and molecules that have various functions used to do in fighting pathogens. There are two major types of responses elicited against invading microbes. The first category is known as innate responses which are short, quick, broad spectrum and non-specific. However, due to lack of immunological memory, they happen to the same extent whenever the same infectious agent is reencountered, while adaptive responses are augmented on repeated exposure to the same infection (Aderem and Underhill, 1999; Fraser et al., 1998). The innate response is composed of phagocytic cells (neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages), cells secreting inflammatory mediators (basophils, mast cells, and eosinophils) (Abraham and Arock, 1998; Wardlaw et al., 1995), natural killer cells (Biron et al., 1999) and dendritic cells (Bell et al., 1999). The molecular components of innate responses consist of complement system, acute-phase proteins, and cytokines like the interferons (IFNs) (Epstein et al., 1996; Ricklin et al., 2010; Steinstraesser et al., 2011; Zasloff, 2002). Adaptive responses include antigen-specific B and T cells, which become activated when their surface receptors bind to a specific antigen (Garcia et al., 1999; Novotny et al., 1983).

#### **1.3 Pathogen associated molecular patterns:**

Pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) including lipoproteins, lipopeptides, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), flagellin, double stranded (ds)RNA, single stranded (ss)RNA and unmethylated cytosine guanine dinucleotide (CpG) DNA motifs are recognized by the innate immune system through receptors known as pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) (Beutler et al., 2003). PRRs are divided into two groups; first, cell-associated PRRs that include TLRs, C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), scavenger receptors, nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (Nod)-like receptors (NLRs), retinoic acid inducible gene (RIG)-I- like receptors (RLRs), and N-formyl Met-Leu-Phe receptors. The second category includes, soluble recognition molecules including pentraxins, collectins, and ficolins (Akira, 2006; Akira and Takeda, 2004; Meylan et al., 2006). The ligands or PAMPs that bind to different chicken (ch) TLRs are summarized in the Table 1.

#### **1.4 Toll-like receptors (TLRs):**

TLRs, as a large group of PRRs, are highly conserved innate immune receptors (Akira, 2006; Akira and Takeda, 2004; Meylan et al., 2006). TLR family members are type 1 transmembrane molecules and comprised of an extracellular domain with leucine-rich repeats (LRR) flanked by C-terminal cap motifs, a transmembrane domain, and a cytoplasmic Toll/IL-1 receptor (TIR) domain (Jin and Lee, 2008; Werling et al., 2009).

TLR	Structure recognized	Agonist	Reference
TLR1/TLR2	Bacterial cell wall	diacyllipopeptides	(Higuchi et al., 2008:
(except TLR2-1/	components	(Malp-2) and	Keestra et al., 2007)
TLR1-2)		triacyllipopeptides	
		(Pam3)	
TLR2-1/ TLR1-2	Bacterial cell wall	Pam3,	(Higuchi et al., 2008;
	components	peptidoglycan	Keestra et al., 2007)
TLR3	dsRNA	Poly I:C	(Liu et al., 2008;
			Pirher et al., 2008)
TLR4	Bacterial cell wall	LPS	(Dil and Qureshi,
	components		2002a; Farnell et al.,
			2003; Kogut et al.,
			2006)
TLR5	Bacterial flagellin	Flagellin	(He et al., 2006b;
			Kogut et al., 2005b)
TLR7	ssRNA	Imiquimod,	(Ahmad-Nejad et al.,
		Resiquimod	2002; Heil et al.,
			2003; Matsumoto et
			al., 2003)

**Table 1.** Chicken toll-like receptors and their ligands (this table was adapted from St Paul and others (St Paul et al., 2013).

TLR	Structure recognized	Agonist	Reference
TLR15	virulence-associated	Proteases	(de Zoete et al., 2011)
	fungal and bacterial	from Pseudomonas	
	proteases	Aeruginosa,	
		Trichosporon spp.,	
		Penicillium spp. and	
		Mucor spp.	
TLR21	Microbial CpG DNA	CpG ODN	(Brownlie et al.,
	Motifs		2009)
TLR15	virulence-associated	Proteases	(de Zoete et al., 2011)
	fungal and bacterial	from Pseudomonas	
	proteases	Aeruginosa,	
		Trichosporon spp.,	
		Penicillium spp. and	
		Mucor spp.	

TLRs are mainly expressed in tissues engaged in immune functions, like spleen and peripheral blood leukocytes, and mucosal surfaces which are exposed to the external environment including lung and the gastrointestinal tract. Their expression patterns vary among tissues and cell types. TLRs are expressed on the plasma membranes with the exception of TLR3, TLR7 and TLR9 which are found on the endosomal compartments (Nishiya and DeFranco, 2004) since these TLRs sense dsRNA, ssRNA and CpG motifs of pathogens which will be exposed intracellularly.

With the binding of ligands (PAMPs) to TLRs, TIR domain interacts with intracellular adapter molecules such as myeloid differentiation factor (MyD)88, TIR domain containing adaptor protein (TIRAP), TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- $\beta$  (TRIF), or Trifrelated adapter molecule (TRAM) to initiate a complex signaling cascade that regulate the transcription of pro-inflammatory and immunomodulatory genes (Akira, 2003; Higuchi et al., 2008; Jin and Lee, 2008; O'Neill, 2002). TLR-mediated signal transduction also includes several intermediate molecules such as tumor necrosis factor receptor associated factor 6 (TRAF6), IL-1 receptor-associated kinase 4 family proteins (IRAK ), Ik-kinase (IKK) family proteins, mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK), and transcription factors like nuclear factor (NF)- $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B) family proteins, Activator Protein 1 (AP-1 ), and interferon regulatory factors (IRFs). The consequences of this signal transduction are the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, NO, anti-microbial peptides, adhesion molecules, up-regulation of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules, and co-stimulatory molecules that facilitates antigen presentation to the adaptive immune system (Akira, 2003; Akira and Takeda, 2004; Beutler, 2005; Higuchi et al., 2008; Hu et al., 2002; Jin and Lee, 2008; O'Neill, 2002; Vandewalle, 2008; Verstak et al., 2009; West et al., 2006) . Generally, TLRs and their downstream signaling components are conserved in chickens (Lynn et al., 2003; Philbin et al., 2005), yet there are specific signaling differences found particularly related to chicken TLR4 signaling (Keestra and van Putten, 2008).

The chicken genome encodes the following TLRs; chTLR1-1 (forming an evolutionary cluster with mammalian TLR1, TLR6, and TLR10), chTLR1-2, chTLR2-1, chTLR2-2, chTLR3, chTLR4, chTLR5, chTLR7, chTLR15, and chTLR21 (Iqbal et al., 2005; Lynn et al., 2003; Philbin et al., 2005; Yilmaz et al., 2005). However, orthologs of mammalian TLR8 and TLR9

are absent in avian species (Cormican et al., 2009; Roach et al., 2005; Schwarz et al., 2007; Temperley et al., 2008).

#### 1.5 Chicken TLR4 (ChTLR4):

TLR4 is expressed not only on the surface membrane of immune and non-immune cell types (Arpaia et al., 2011; Qureshi and Medzhitov, 2003) but also in the cytoplasm of intestinal epithelial cells (Cario et al., 2002; Hornef et al., 2002). The expression of chTLR4 varies among different chicken lines and genotypes (Abasht et al., 2009; Dil and Qureshi, 2002a), which determines the disease susceptibility to infectious agents. Also, the chTLR4 gene is polymorphic and determines the resistance or susceptibility of young chickens to pathogens such as *Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium* (Leveque et al., 2003).

TLR4 signaling pathway in chickens that leads to the induction of antiviral molecules is illustrated in Figure 1. One of the prerequisite for TLR4 and LPS (one of the most important ligands of TLR4) interaction is the binding of LPS to LPS-binding protein (LBP) (Kogut et al., 2005a), that transfers LPS monomers to CD14 which delivers the LPS to myeloid differentiation protein-2 (MD-2). MD2 is located bound to the extracellular domain of TLR4 (Palsson-McDermott and O'Neill, 2004; Shimazu et al., 1999). Binding of LPS delivered to MD2 hydrophobic pocket induces conformational change leading to transfer LPS to the TLR4 molecule (Kim et al., 2007; Ohto et al., 2007). Since chicken CD14 (chCD14) is a type I transmembrane protein rather than glycosyl phosphatidyl inositol (GPI)-anchored protein (Haziot et al., 1988; Wu et al., 2009) this receptor is less mobile. It has also been shown that due to the lack of a TLR4/TRAM/TRIF pathway in chicken cells, chickens are unable to produce type I IFNs via chTLR4 signaling (Keestra and van Putten, 2008). In fact, they have reported that

cloning and expression of recombinant chTLR4 and chMD-2 in HeLa 57A cells activate NF-kB at low concentrations of LPS (100 pg/ml). Also, in comparison to the TLR3 agonist poly (I:C) that induces a strong IFN- $\beta$  expression, LPS is not capable of triggering the TIRF-dependent expression of IFN- $\beta$  in chicken cells (Keestra and van Putten, 2008). The aforementioned reasons may explain why, in comparison to mammalian species, avian species are more resistant to the toxic effects of LPS (Adler and DaMassa, 1979; Berczi et al., 1966; Iliev et al., 2005).



Figure 1. TLR4 signaling pathway in chicken that leads to the induction of antiviral molecules.

ChTLR4 and its co-receptors, in response to LPS, induce the expression of inducible NO synthase (iNOS), IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and IL-18 mRNA (Dil and Qureshi, 2002b; Farnell et al.,2003; He et al., 2006a). Furthermore, in chickens, instead of TNF- $\alpha$ , its counterpart named tumor necrosis factor (TNF) S15 has been identified (Takimoto et al., 2008) that is induced by the transcription factor named lipopolysaccharide-induced TNF factor (LITAF) (Hong et al., 2006). While both TLR4 and MD-2 genes are highly conserved among the orthologs found in mammals, birds, and some fish species (Iliev et al., 2005; Meijer et al., 2004), the interaction between chTLR4 and chMD-2 is species-specific. This could be due to differences between chickens and mammalian species in the amino acid composition that makes differences in the formation of complex between TLR4 and MD-2 (Keestra and van Putten, 2008). The LPS specificity is not only determined by MD-2, but also by TLR4 (Hong et al., 2004).

#### 1.6 Toll-like receptors and antiviral response:

Therapeutic application of imiquimod (TLR7 agonist) against papilloma virus-induced genital warts in human has been in clinical use. Further, clinical trials of CpG against hepatitis C and poly (I:C) against HIV are in preclinical and phase II clinical trial status, respectively (Kanzler et al., 2007).

As molecules induced following TLRs stimulation, pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6, can elicit antiviral effects against HIV-I in macrophages including microglia (Lokensgard et al., 1997). Stimulation of TLR3 or TLR4 by Poly (I:C) or LPS respectively induces a potent anti-HIV effect in human microglia. Indeed, activation of TLR3 and TLR4 produces the same intracellular cell activation pathways and leads to the expression of the same sets of genes in microglia, including pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines and IFN-

stimulated genes (ISGs). However, PIC leads to the higher induction of many ISGs, and LPS gives rise to higher induction of many non-IRF3-dependent genes (Suh et al., 2009). In general, both TLR3 and TLR4 are the main innate antiviral immune receptors in human microglia (Suh et al., 2009).

*In vitro* and *in vivo* studies show that fimbriae (Fim)H, an adhesion portion of type 1 fimbriae available in most Enterobacteriaceae like uropathogenic *E.coli* (Ashkar et al., 2004; Krogfelt et al., 1990), in a TLR4-dependent way strongly elicits innate antiviral protection against herpes simplex virus-2 (HSV-2). This innate response is correlated with IFN- $\beta$  production and depends on MyD88, TRIF, TLR4, IRF-3 and type I IFN signaling (Ashkar et al., 2004; Mian et al., 2010).

In chicken, antiviral innate response induced by TLR ligands has been shown towards reovirus (Pertile et al., 1996), MDV (Xing and Schat, 2000), infectious bronchitis virus (IBV) (Dar et al., 2009), Newcastle disease virus (NDV) (Tseng et al., 2009), and avian influenza virus (AIV) (St Paul et al., 2012). St. Paul et al have reported that pretreatment of chickens using TLR ligands including poly (I:C), LPS and CpG following challenge with AIV can reduce virus load and shedding (St Paul et al., 2012). In fact, this antiviral innate response can be highlighted about TLR3 ligand poly I:C mounting the greatest innate response against AIV. Moreover, Pertile et al (Pertile et al., 1996) have shown that LPS-pretreatment of chicken macrophage cell line HD11 can hamper replication of reovirus. Xing et al. (Xing and Schat, 2000) have revealed that the inhibition of MDV replication through co-stimulation of chicken embryo fibroblast (CEF) and chicken by recombinant ChIFN-γ and LPS is mediated by NO.

#### **1.7 Macrophages:**

Macrophages discovered by Élie Metchnikoff are considered as 'sentinel' cells that clear the interstitial environment of extraneous cellular material like apoptotic bodies via phagocytic receptors including scavenger receptors, phosphatidyl serine receptors, the thrombospondin receptor, integrins and complement receptors (Erwig and Henson, 2007). This homeostatic clearance process is done independent of other immune cells (Kono and Rock, 2008). On the other hand, clearance of necrotic bodies loaded with endogenous danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), such as heat-shock proteins, nuclear proteins, histones, DNA, other nucleotides, and extracellular matrix materials proteases by macrophages. This then leads to the activation of TLRs (Chen et al., 2007; Kono and Rock, 2008; Park et al., 2004), intracellular PRRs and the interleukin-1 receptor (IL-1R) (Chen et al., 2007) and consequently production of cytokines and pro-inflammatory mediators independent of adaptive immune responses (Kono and Rock, 2008; Zhang and Mosser, 2008). In general, macrophages detection of PAMPs (or DAMPs) by PRRs, in particular TLRs (Kaisho and Akira, 2002), consequently results in clearance of necrotic bodies from extracellular spaces, tissue homeostasis and host defense. These functions make macrophages a major sentinel in the host (Kono and Rock, 2008).

In addition to this innate activation process, macrophages can respond to signals provided by antigen-specific immune cells. Since these signals are more long-lasting than innate immune stimuli, they can make long-term changes in macrophages (Gordon, 2007). In response to certain extracellular signals, macrophages become mature antigen presenting cells and induce the activation of T helper cells (Th cells) affecting the overall immune responses (Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2004). On the other hand, these long-lasting interactions between microbial components and macrophages can result in a state of hyporesponsiveness to the same stimulus or

related stimuli. This phenomenon is recognized as tolerance. Several mechanisms contribute to this process: down-regulation of TLR4 (Nomura et al., 2000); decreased expression of downstream signaling molecules (Li et al., 2000); alterations in the association between TLR5 and downstream signaling molecules (Mizel and Snipes, 2002); increased expression of proteins inhibiting TLR signal transduction (Kinjyo et al., 2002; Kobayashi et al., 2002; Nakagawa et al., 2002); and upregulation of the p50 and p52 subunits of the NF- $\kappa$ B transcription factor leading to the interference of NF- $\kappa$ B transcription (Karsten et al., 2009; Wedel et al., 1999). In practice, macrophage tolerance to the normal microbial flora, particularly in gastrointestinal tract, through inhibition of inflammation can maintain normal immune homeostasis (Erdman et al., 2001).

Circulating monocytes migrate into tissue and differentiate to macrophages to renew long-lived tissue-specific macrophages of the bone (osteoclasts), alveoli (alveolar macrophages), central nervous system (microglial cells), connective tissue (histiocytes), gastrointestinal tract, liver (Kupffer cells), spleen and peritoneum (Gordon and Taylor, 2005). Nevertheless, the local proliferation of tissue-resident colony-forming cells can directly produce populations of mature macrophages in the tissue, in particular the microglial cells of the central nervous system (Ajami et al., 2007).

Macrophages on the basis of the pathway of their activation (activated phenotype) are classified into M1 macrophages and M2 macrophages which are reserved for classically activated macrophages and alternatively activated macrophages (Gordon, 2003). However, according to fundamental functions, these cells can be grouped into classically activated macrophages, wound-healing macrophages, and regulatory macrophages. Further, macrophages are capable of evolving to different subsets with characteristics shared by more than one

12

macrophage population. As a result, this situation can lead to a 'spectrum' of macrophage subpopulations based on their functions (Edwards et al., 2006).

#### 1.7.1 Avian macrophage cell lines:

In comparison to primary cell cultures, chicken macrophage cell lines give rise to a population of cells with approximately the same functional features. These cell lines are characterized as adherent, phagocytic, and express monocytic-related cell surface markers. Different transformation methods have been used to develop chicken macrophage cell lines. There are several avian macrophage cell lines have been established. The HD11 cell line is transformed by an avian myelocytomatosis (MC)29 retrovirus (Beug et al., 1979). The MQ-NCSU cell line, which is more active than the HD11 cells at many effector and regulatory functions, is transformed by MDV (Qureshi et al., 1994; Qureshi et al., 1990). Also, there are two monocytic chicken leukemia cell lines; IN24 established using a natural myelocytic leukemia virus (Inoue and Sato, 1988), and LSCC-NP1 originated from the bursa of Fabricious of a chicken infected with lymphoid leukosis virus (Inoue et al., 1992). These cell lines, in comparison to primary macrophages are convenient and permit greater experimental control and repeatability, but some disadvantages include the shedding of virus used for the transformation or functional anomalies in the cell lines might lead to some controversial results. Chicken macrophages are capable of producing cytokines with functions akin to mammalian proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-like ligand 1A (equivalent of TNFα in mammals) (Bombara and Taylor, 1991; Klasing and Peng, 1987; Qureshi et al., 1994; Qureshi and Miller, 1991; Qureshi et al., 1993; Takimoto et al., 2008). Further, NO

and eicosanoids (including both the leukotrienes and the prostaglandins) are secreted by activated macrophages (Dietert and Golemboski, 1998).

#### 1.7.2 Mouse macrophage cell lines:

The RAW 264.7 cell line originates from the ascites of a tumor induced in a male BAB/14 mouse by the intraperitoneal injection of the Abelson leukemia virus (A-MuLV). RAW 264.7 cells readily take up neutral red dye, synthesize and secrete lysozyme, phagocytose zymosan and latex beads, and mediate antibody dependent lysis and phagocytosis of sheep erythrocytes (SRBC). RAW 264.7 cells are not capable of secreting measurable virus particles. Also, this cell line is negative in the XC plaque formation assay and the fibroblast transformation assay for Abelson virus, yet it can produce Abelson virus after rescue by Moloney leukemia virus (Raschke et al., 1978).

The growth of RAW 264.7 cells are inhibited by trace amount (sub ng/ml) of LPS (Raschke et al., 1978). A similar situation occurs with other macrophage cell lines and a few B cell lines (Ralph et al., 1974) which are particularly sensitive to macrophage-activating factors such as LPS, mycobacterium strain Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG), zymosan, tuberculin-purified protein derivative (PPD) and dextran sulfate. RAW 264 cells are sensitive to LPS (Raschke et al., 1978).

#### **1.8 Lipopolysaccharide:**

Endotoxins contribute to bacterial pathogenesis (Beutler and Rietschel, 2003), and they have been chemically characterized as LPS (Raetz et al., 2007; Raetz and Whitfield, 2002). LPS is comprised of three parts: lipid A, core sugars and O-antigen repeats. Lipid A is the

hydrophobic constituent of LPS which anchors into the outer leaflet of the outer membrane, whereas core sugars and O-antigen repeats are located on the surface of bacteria. Lipid A is recognized to mediate the toxic effects of infections with Gram-negative bacteria (Galanos et al., 1985). The biochemical structure of LPS varies from one bacterium to another, and this variation could affect the virulence of bacteria. In fact, all regions of LPS show diversity. Regarding the O-specific side chain, heterogeneity occurs due to the various amount of polymorphism (S-type), a single repeating unite (SR-type), and absence of a side chain (R-type). Further, incomplete core oligosaccharide (core-defective R-types) leads to more heterogeneity in different species of LPS. The outer region of the core oligosaccharide displays minimal or limited variations. On the other hand, the maximum compositional and structural diversity happens in the O-specific side chain (Wilkinson, 1996). The phosphate groups and the length and number of fatty acyl chains of lipid A are responsible for TLR4 activation (Persing et al., 2002; Rietschel et al., 1994).

In *S. enteritidis*, O-antigen side chain is comprised of repeating the following unit  $[\rightarrow 2-\beta$ -D mannose-1 $\rightarrow$  4- $\alpha$ -L-Rhamnose-1 $\rightarrow$ 3- $\alpha$ -D-Galactose-1 $\rightarrow$ ] with nonstoichiometric glucosylation at a much lower level in comparison to *S. typhi* (Hellerqvist et al., 1969). *Salmonella* type lipid A includes a  $\beta$ -1', 6-linked disaccharide of glucosamine, with phosphates at the 1 and 4' positions and acylated at the 2, 3, 2', and 3' positions with R-3-hydroxymyristic acid (3-OH C14:0). This structure becomes more acylated with secondary laurate (C12:0) and myristate (C14:0) chains in acyloxyacyl linkage at the 2' and 3' positions (Raetz and Whitfield, 2002). Indeed, the myristate chain is required for bacterial growth in lysogeny broth (LB) medium and resistance to bile salts, CO<sub>2</sub>, acidic pH, and high osmolarity (Karsten et al., 2009; Murray et al., 2001). Lacking the myristate chain also leads to reduced pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$  and NO production (Khan et al., 1998; Low et al., 1999). Further,

*Salmonella* type Lipid A is modified further through the addition of small molecules, like phosphoethanolamine (PETN) moieties or 4-amino-4-deoxy-L-arabinose (L-Ara4N), or alterations in the fatty acid chains. The organism utilizes these strategies to modulate host innate immunity and protect itself in various microenvironment niches (Guo et al., 1997; Guo et al., 1998; Trent et al., 2001).

The structure of *E.coli* Lipid A is similar to the *Salmonella* one except for the fact that two residues of 3-deoxy-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acid (KDO) which are covalently linked to the 6'-position (Hankins and Trent, 2009). The lipid A present in both *E. coli* and *Salmonella* is the most efficient in inducing pro-inflammatory responses via the Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-MD2-CD14 pathway. Moreover, *E.coli* lipid As with fewer acyl chains, like tetra- or penta-acylated lipid A species, reveal markedly reduced immunostimulatory function (Brandenburg and Wiese, 2004). In contrast, the penta-acylated lipid A species in *Salmonella* are capable of activating the TLR4-MD2-CD14 pathway, whereas the tetra- or tri-acylated lipid A indicates lack of immunostimulatory activity (Rossignol and Lynn, 2005). Similar to the *Salmonella* type, the *E. coli* lipid A contains two phosphate groups and six acyl chains composed of 12 or 14 carbons, and acts as a strong activator of the innate immune system (Golenbock et al., 1991).

After synthesis, the structure of LPS can be modified. This modification is concentrated on the most conserved part lipid of A. Different structures of lipid A have been recognized in different bacteria. The most conserved part of lipid A is its backbone, disaccharide of glucosamine. The groups connecting to the backbone of lipid A could be modified. The modification of LPS can happen both in the hydrophilic polysaccharide region and the hydrophobic acyl chain domain. The structural modification of LPS might contribute to the bacterial resistance to the cationic antimicrobial peptides (CAMPs) produced by the innate immune system, or evades recognition by TLR4 (Guo et al., 1997; Wang et al., 2006; Wilkinson, 1996). Through modification of the LPS structures, it would be possible to develop novel LPS immune adjuvants or antagonists (Hawkins et al., 2004; Persing et al., 2002; Stover et al., 2004), or augment the traditional Gram-negative bacterial live vaccines.

#### **1.9 Nitric oxide (NO):**

NO, a gaseous free radical, plays key roles in biological processes such as vascular regulation, neurotransmission, immune response, and pathogenesis of several diseases. This molecule is generated in a wide range of cell types and tissues by the concomitant conversion of L-arginine into L-citrulline via at least three distinct isoforms of the enzyme nitric oxide synthase (NOS) including neuronal NOS (nNOS), endothelial NOS (eNOS), and inducible NOS (iNOS) (Geller and Billiar, 1998; Marletta et al., 1998; Moncada et al., 1997; Nathan, 1992; Stuehr, 1997).

iNOS, with inducible expression, is independent of elevated intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ , but nNOS and eNOS, with constitutive expression, are dependent on elevated intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  for eliciting their functions. Generally, nNOS and eNOS expressions are constitutive, whereas the expression of iNOS is inducible. Further, both nNOS and eNOS contribute to physiological functions of NO in the healthy host, while iNOS is involved in inflammation and infection (Mannick et al., 1994; Xie et al., 1992).

Mechanism of antiviral effect of NO can be explained by the interaction of NO with target (macro) molecules by way of a rich redox and additive chemistry (Stamler, 1994). Additionally, NO reaction with oxygen, superoxide, and transition metals, gives rise to reactive nitrogen intermediates (e.g., peroxynitrite) that provide more nitrosative reactions. The greater prevalence and reactivity of thiols in comparison to other nucleophiles facilitate the formation of S-nitrosothiol (Stamler, 1994, 1995; Stamler and Hausladen, 1998).

In fact, greater prevalence of reactive cysteine residues in the large number of virusencoded and host proteins including; proteases, reverse transcriptase, ribonucleotide reductase, transcriptional factors, zinc-finger domains, glycoproteins and hemagglutinin, makes them adequate targets for NO. However, under stringent conditions, tyrosine and tryptophan residues and DNA can be considered as the secondary targets. The antiviral effect of NO has been substantiated for several DNA and RNA virus families, including *Picornaviridae*, *Flaviviridae*, *Coronaviridae*, *Rhabdoviridae*, *Reoviridae*, *Retroviridae*, *Parvoviridae*, *Herpesviridae*, and *Poxviridae* (Persichini et al., 1999). The outcome of antiviral response mediated by NO is determined by both the virus and the host cell types. In general, the antiviral effects of NO can be explained not only at the transcriptional scale through influencing the activity of transcription factors, but also at the post-transcriptional scale with the enzyme activity and protein assembly (Maeda and Akaike, 1998; Mannick, 1995; Peterhans, 1997; Powell and Baylis, 1995; Reiss and Komatsu, 1998).

#### 1.10 Avian infectious laryngotracheitis virus:

ILTV belongs to the group I of double stranded DNA viruses, and is placed in the order of *Herpesvirales*, family of *Herpesviridae*, subfamily of *Alphaherpesvirinae*, and genus of Iltovirus. Based on current nomenclature ILTV species is renamed as *Gallid herpesvirus 1* (Bagust et al., 2000). Since most literatures cite the virus as ILTV, we used the old nomenclature of virus throughout the thesis in order to prevent any confusion. ILTV consists of a DNA-containing core within an icosahedral capsid surrounded by a proteinaceous tegument layer and an outer envelope with incorporated viral glycoproteins (Cruickshank et al., 1963; Watrach et al., 1963). Although all capsids have diameters of 100 nm, particle sizes vary between 200 and 350 nm, since ILTV tends to incorporate huge amounts of tegument proteins (Granzow et al., 2001).

ILTV infection leads to sporadic cases of infectious laryngotracheitis (ILT) in chickens and pheasant world-wide. ILT varies from mild to per-acute, with mortality in per-acute outbreaks exceeding 50%. ILTV can remain latent in carriers after infection and due to stress the virus can be shed intermittently. The chicken is the primary host and reservoir host. In contrast to the mild form, death may happen quickly and with high mortality in peracute and acute disease (Bagust et al., 2000; Jones et al., 1993).

Propagation of ILTV is done on the chorioallantoic membrane of embryonated chicken eggs (Fuchs et al., 2007), and in primary kidney and liver cells of chickens or chicken embryos (Mayer et al., 1967). Furthermore, the LMH cell line derived from a chemically induced chicken liver tumor permits ILTV replication (Kawaguchi et al., 1987; Schnitzlein et al., 1994; Scholz et al., 1993). First, ILTV infection of permissive chicken cells gives rise to the formation of syncytia and nuclear inclusion bodies (Reynolds et al., 1968). After 3 to 5 days, lysis of the cells causes plaque formation.

During the replication cycle of ILTV, first infectious progeny viruses are formed 8 to 12 hours (h) post-infection, and reach a maximum within 24 to 30 h (Fuchs et al., 2000). Similar to other herpesviruses, ILTV has typical steps of morphogenesis (Granzow et al., 2001; Guo et al., 1993; Mettenleiter, 2002) and a cascade-like regulation of viral gene expression (Prideaux et al., 1992). In the nucleus, virus replication takes place and then the genome is packaged. After that,
the nucleocapsids are transported into the cytoplasm following envelopment and de-envelopment steps at the inner and outer leaflets of the nuclear membrane, respectively. Finally, the cytoplasmic capsids that are covered with an electron dense tegument are re-enveloped by a second budding event in the trans-golgi compartment which is followed by release of mature particles by exocytosis.

In chicken, protection against ILTV is based on cell-mediated immune responses (Fahey and York, 1990). Also, prevention of ILTV infection is done using attenuated live-virus vaccines delivered via eye drop or sometimes aerosol or drinking water (Han and Kim, 2003). Since reversion of the vaccine to the virulent strain might occur (Clarke et al., 1980; Guy et al., 1991), a genetically engineered stable gene deletion mutant lacking nonessential, but virulence determining genes could be a safe alternative to the current vaccine strains (Davison et al., 2006; Tong et al., 2001) but are still under investigation. Vaccination against ILTV has been a very reliable means of ILT prevention (Fuchs et al., 2005). However, vaccine breaks emerge as a common problem due to the increased virulence of the virus by recombination between multiple vaccine and or field strains (Lee et al., 2012). One of the ways of addressing these issues may be the development of novel approaches that could be used as alternatives or adjunct to the existing ILT control methods. One such approach may be the stimulation of innate immune system through synthetic or natural PAMPs. Engagement of PRRs with PAMPs leads to the induction of anti-viral, anti-bacterial, anti-parasitic and anti-fungal host mechanisms that, eventually, guide the adaptive arm of the immune system to generate long lasting immunity against invading pathogens.

In avian, NO mediated antiviral response has been studied using two *in vitro* models; HD11 cell line-reovirus and CEF-HVT/MDV (Pertile et al., 1996; Xing and Schat, 2000). It is

20

not known whether any other avian cell line is capable of activating antiviral response against any other avian virus. With a view of the considerable economic importance, it was of interest to delineate the role of TLR4 signaling pathway in inducing antiviral mechanisms against ILTV. The study of molecular mechanisms behind antiviral response induced by TLR4 ligands is important in the development of new strategies for ILTV control. In particular, we asked following research questions:

#### **1.11 Research questions:**

- Does stimulation of ILTV susceptible avian hepatocyte cell line, LMH, using TLR4 ligand, LPS, increase NO production?
- 2. Does stimulation of avian macrophages using TLR4 ligand (LPS) increase NO production?
- 3. Does stimulation of avian macrophages using TLR4 ligand (LPS) increase the surface expression of its receptors (TLR4 and CD14)?
- 4. Does stimulation of avian macrophages using TLR4 ligand (LPS) induce antiviral response against an avian herpesvirus, ILTV?
- 5. Does inhibition of TLR4 mediated NO production in avian macrophages abolish antiviral effect induced by TLR4 ligand (LPS) against ILTV?
- 6. Does use of a NO donor as a source of NO confer antiviral effect against ILTV?

#### 1.12 Hypotheses:

- 1. Treatment of ILTV susceptible avian hepatocyte cell line, LMH by TLR4 ligand (LPS) increases the expression of antiviral bioactive molecule, NO
- Treatment of avian macrophages by TLR4 ligand (LPS) increases the expression of antiviral bioactive molecule, NO
- Treatment of avian macrophages by TLR4 ligand (LPS) increases the expression of its receptors, TLR4 and CD14
- Treatment of avian macrophages by TLR4 ligand (LPS) induces antiviral response against ILTV
- Inhibition of NO production by avian macrophages abolishes antiviral response induced by TLR4 ligand (LPS) against ILTV
- 6. NO released by a NO donor confers antiviral effect against ILTV

### CHAPTER 2: INDUCTION OF TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR 4 SIGNALING IN AVIAN CELLS INHIBITS INFECTIOUS LARYNGOTRACHEITIS VIRUS REPLICATION IN A NITRIC OXIDE DEPENDENT WAY

#### 2.1 Abstract:

LPS is one of the PAMPs that activates TLR4 signaling pathway eliciting antiviral host responses in mammals, although information on such responses in avian species is scarce. Our objectives were to characterize the LPS induced innate responses particularly the expression of LPS receptors (TLR4, CD14) and one of the downstream molecules, NO, in avian cells and observe whether TLR4 mediated induction of NO can elicit antiviral response against ILTV replication. We found that ILTV susceptible LMH cells express LPS receptors in very little number of cells and are not responsive to EC-LPS and SE-LPS treatments, as has been evaluated by production of NO. However, LPS was capable of inducing the expression of TLR4, CD14 and NO production in an avian macrophage cell line, MQ-NCSU. We also showed that TLR4 mediated NO production can lead to antiviral response against ILTV replication when MQ-NCSU cells were treated with LPS and the resultant supernatant was then transferred to ILTV replicating cells to assess antiviral activity. Antiviral activity of NO was blocked by a selective inhibitor, S-methylisothiourea sulfhate (SMT) that inhibits iNOS. Furthermore, using a NO donor, S-nitroso-N-acetyl-DL-penicillamine (SNAP) as a source of NO, it was observed that antiviral response to ILTV replication in LMH cells depends on NO. These observations confirm that the antiviral activity is positively correlated with NO production. Our data show that LPS can be a potential innate immune stimulant that can be used against ILTV infection in chickens that require further evaluation in vivo.

#### **2.2 Introduction:**

Host-pathogen interaction activates early host responses that are mediated by innate immune system (Janeway and Medzhitov, 2002). Recognition of PAMPs by the innate immune system is mediated by a large group of innate immune receptors called PRRs (Fearon and Locksley, 1996; Medzhitov and Janeway, 1997). Among PRRs, TLRs play a predominant role in pathogen recognition. PAMPs recognition by cell associated TLRs leads to the activation of intracellular signaling pathways that trigger microbial killing mechanisms and numerous other functions relevant to host responses (Kobayashi et al., 2002; Nau et al., 2002).

TLRs and their downstream signaling components are mostly conserved in chickens (Lillehoj and Li, 2004; Lynn et al., 2003; Philbin et al., 2005). TLR4 is expressed not only on the surface membrane of immune and non-immune cell types but also in the cytoplasm of intestinal epithelial cells (Arpaia et al., 2011; Tang et al., 2008). One of the well-characterized ligands that bind with TLR4 is LPS derived from gram-negative bacteria such as E. coli (EC-LPS) and S. enteritidis (SE-LPS). LPS recognition by TLR4 requires the activation of co-receptors, such as CD14 and MD2. Unlike in mammals, induction of chTLR4 signaling does not lead to production of type I IFNs via TLR4/TRAM (TRIF-related adaptor molecule)/TRIF (TIR-domain-containing adaptor protein inducing IFN- $\beta$ ) pathway (Keestra and van Putten, 2008). Instead, chTLR4 and co-receptors, in response to LPS, induce pro-inflammatory mediators such as iNOS, IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-18 (Dil and Qureshi, 2002b; Farnell et al., 2003; He et al., 2006a). NO, a gaseous free radical produced following iNOS activation, plays a critical role in immune response and pathogenesis of several diseases. This molecule is generated in a wide range of cell types and tissues by the simultaneous conversion of L-arginine into L-citrulline (Lillehoj et al., 2004; Nathan, 1992).

It has been shown that LPS-TLR4 signaling induce antiviral effects against viruses such as HIV, human cytomegalovirus, classical swine fever virus, and avian reovirus (Croen, 1993; Harwani et al., 2007; Knoetig et al., 2002; Pertile et al., 1996; Regev-Shoshani et al., 2013). NO mediated antiviral response also has been shown for mammalian viruses (Croen, 1993; Mehta et al., 2012; Regev-Shoshani et al., 2013) and avian viruses such as reovirus, herpes virus of turkeys (HVT) and MDV (Pertile et al., 1996; Xing and Schat, 2000).

It has been shown that EC-LPS and IFN-γ mediated NO production inhibit replication of MDV in chicken embryo fibroblasts (CEF) (Xing and Schat, 2000). LPS mediated NO production in avian macrophages, HD11 cells also has been shown to inhibit reovirus replication (Pertile et al., 1996). It is not known whether any other avian macrophage cell lines can elicit antiviral response similar to HD11 macrophages against other avian viruses when stimulated using EC-LPS and SE-LPS, with concomitant increase in TLR4 and CD14 expression and NO production.

We investigated whether ILTV susceptible LMH cell line and avian macrophage cell line, MQ-NCSU cells are able to respond following treatment with a range of EC-LPS or SE-LPS producing NO. We then examined whether EC-LPS and SE-LPS can increase the expression of LPS receptors, TLR4 and CD14, in MQ-NCSU cells in response to LPS. Finally, we evaluated whether NO in culture supernatants elicit antiviral effects against another avian viral infection other than reovirus, HVT, and MDV. We found that only avian macrophages, MQ-NCSU could be stimulated with EC-LPS and SE-LPS to produce significant amount of NO. This increase in NO was associated with increase in the expression of LPS receptors and antiviral response against ILTV.

#### 2.3 Materials and methods:

#### **2.3.1 Cells and virus:**

Three cell lines were used in the experiments; the avian macrophage cell line, MQ-NCSU cells was a gift from Dr. Shayan Sharif (University of Guelph, Canada) and the murine macrophage cell line, RAW 264.7 cells was a gift from Dr. Robin Yates (University of Calgary, Canada). The LMH cell line (ATCC® CRL-2117<sup>TM</sup>) and ILTV were purchased from ATCC.

#### 2.3.2 Cell culture:

LMH cells were cultured in flasks or plates pre-coated with 0.1% gelatin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). The growth medium for LMH cells consists of Waymouth's MB 752/1 medium (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada) whereas RAW 264.7 cells were grown in DMEM (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada). The media were supplemented with heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) 10% (Cellgro, Manassas, VA, USA), 100 units of penicillin and 100µg of streptomycin per ml (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada), and L-glutamine 1% (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada). The MQ-NCSU cells were cultured in LM HAHN medium comprising of Leibovitz L-15 medium (38.5 ml), McCoy's 5A medium (38.5 ml), Chicken serum (10.0 ml), L-Glutamine-200mM (1.0 ml), sodium pyruvate-100X (1.0 ml), 100 U of penicillin and 100 µg of streptomycin per ml, fungizone 250 µg/ml (0.2 ml), 2-mercaptoethanol 1.0 mM (1.0 ml) (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada), tryptose phosphate broth (5.0 ml) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), and FBS (8.0 ml) (Cellgro, Manassas, VA, USA) (Okamura et al., 2004). The cells were maintained in cell culture incubator (Binder GmBH, Tuttlingen, Germany) under 5% carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) at 37°C (LMH and RAW 264.7) or 40°C (MQ-NCSU).

#### 2.4 Experimental design:

#### **2.4.1 Propagation and titration of ILTV:**

LMH cell monolayers were prepared in 6-well tissue culture plates and infected with 10fold serial dilutions of ILTV with a titre of  $1.27 \times 10^6$  plaque forming unit (PFU)/ml with uninfected controls. 2-day (d) and 5 d post-infection, ILTV infected and control 6-well plates were examined microscopically to see morphological changes produced by ILTV. At the same time, images were taken to document the cytophathic effects of ILTV infection in LMH cells. Five d following the infection, the plates were stained with 1% crystal violet (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) to visualize the plaques.

# 2.4.2 Stimulation of LMH and RAW 264.7 cells with LPS for quantification of NO production:

LMH and RAW 264.7 cells were propagated and cell stimulation was done in 96 well plates  $(1 \times 10^5 \text{ cells/well})$ . The cells were cultured for 24 h, growth media removed, washed the monolayer with 1× hanks balanced salt solution (HBSS) (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada) and stimulated either with EC-LPS (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) or SE-LPS (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) at a concentration of 100, 10, 1, 0.1, 0.01, 0.001, 0.0001 and 0µg/ml. Different concentrations of LPS were made in phenol red free growth media. The plates were incubated for 24, 48 or 72 h at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in a cell culture incubator before collection of culture supernatants for NO assay. Each treatment was done in triplicate.

### 2.4.3 Stimulation of macrophages (MQ-NCSU and RAW 264.7) with LPS for quantification of NO production:

MQ-NCSU and RAW 264.7 macrophage cell lines were propagated and cell stimulation was done in 96 well plates  $(1 \times 10^5$  cells/well). The cells were cultured for 24 hours (h), growth media removed, washed the monolayers with 1× hanks balanced salt solution (HBSS) and stimulated either with EC-LPS (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) or SE-LPS (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) at a concentration of 100, 10, 1, 0.1, 0.01, 0.001, 0.0001 and 0µg/ml. Different concentrations of LPS were made in applicable phenol red free growth media. The plates were incubated for 24, 48 or 72 h at either 37°C (LMH and RAW264.7) or 40°C (MQ-NCSU) in a CO<sub>2</sub> incubator before collection of culture supernatants for NO assay. Each treatment was done in triplicate or six replicates.

#### 2.4.4 Detection of TLR4 and CD14 expression in LMH cells:

The expression of TLR4 and CD14 in LMH cells was quantified without any treatment to determine the presence of these receptors in LMH cells. LMH cells were cultured in T-75 flasks for 24 h, the cells were dislodged from flasks using TrypLE<sup>TM</sup> Express (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada) and  $2 \times 10^6$  cells were stained for TLR4 and CD14 expression. The experiment was done in triplicate.

# 2.4.5 Stimulation of avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) with LPS for quantification of TLR4 and CD14 expression:

The avian macrophage cells, MQ-NCSU responded similar to the RAW264.7 cells following LPS treatment. The lowest concentration of LPS (0.1  $\mu$ g/ml) that produce the highest

amount of NO was chosen to study the expression of TLR4 and CD14 expression in MQ-NCSU cells following LPS treatment. MQ-NSU cells were cultured in T-75 flasks for 24 h and treated with either EC-LPS or SE-LPS with un-stimulated controls. 3, 6 and 12 h post-treatment, cells were dislodged from flasks using TrypLE<sup>TM</sup> Express (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada) and  $2\times10^6$  cells from each treatment or control stained for TLR4 and CD14 expression. The experiment was done in triplicate.

### 2.4.6 Antiviral assay for culture supernatants produced following avian macrophage (MQ-NCSU) stimulation with LPS in vitro:

MQ-NCSU cells were cultured in 6 well plates ( $2 \times 10^6$  cells per well) 24 h before treatments with 0.1 µg/ml EC-LPS, SE-LPS or PBS. 18 h post-treatment culture supernatants, (500µl/well) were collected and transferred to naive LMH cells. Then, LMH cells were infected with 10-fold serial dilution of ILTV with a titre of  $1.27 \times 10^6$  plaque forming unit (PFU)/ml. 5 days (d) following the infection, the plates were stained with 1% crystal violet and number of plaques was counted. The experiment was done in triplicate.

#### 2.4.7 Determining the antiviral effect of LPS mediated NO production in vitro:

To determine the optimal concentration of iNOS inhibitor, S-methylisothiourea sulphate (SMT; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), MQ-NCSU cells were cultured in 6 well plates ( $2 \times 10^6$  cells per well) 24 h before treatment with 0.1 µg/ml EC-LPS with different concentrations of SMT (0, 10, 100, 500 and 1000µg/ml) for 18 h. Each treatment was done in triplicate.

Following determination of the optimal concentration of SMT, MQ-NCSU cells were cultured in 6 well plates ( $2 \times 10^6$  cells per well) 24 h before treatments with 0.1 µg/ml EC-LPS or SE-LPS with or without SMT, or PBS alone. 6 and 18 h post-treatment culture supernatants were collected and transferred to naive LMH cells in 6 well plates ( $4 \times 10^6$  cells per well). Then, LMH cells were infected with 100 PFU/well of ILTV. Five d following the infection, the plates were stained with 1% crystal violet and number of plaques was counted. The experiment was done in triplicate.

#### 2.4.8 Determining the antiviral effect of NO using a NO donor in vitro:

To further confirm the antiviral response mediated by NO, we used a NO donor, Snitroso-N-acetyl-DL-penicillamine (SNAP, Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada) as a source of NO. First, a concentration of SNAP that yields nitrite concentration near to what resulted with EC-LPS treatment (0.1  $\mu$ g/ml) of MQ-NCSU cells for 18 h, was determined using a range of SNAP solutions (800, 400, 200, and 100  $\mu$ M) made in HBSS. After 10 minutes (min) exposure to UV visible light to accelerate the NO release, NO production was measured using Griess assay. Each concentration of NO donor was done in triplicate. Following determination of the required concentration of SNAP, this concentration of SNAP was used in antiviral assay. The antiviral assay was done in 6 well plates cultured with LMH cell (2× 10<sup>6</sup> cells per well). We included four groups: 1). control treated with HBSS, 2) conditioned media of MQ-NCSU cells without treatment transferred to LMH cells, 3) LMH cells treated with 0.1 $\mu$ g/ml EC-LPS for 18 h, and 4) 800 $\mu$ M SNAP made in HBSS transferred to LMH cells. Then, treated or control LMH cells were infected with 100 PFU/well of ILTV. 5 d following the infection, the plates were stained with 1% crystal violet (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) and the number of plaques was counted. The experiment was done in triplicate.

#### 2.5 Assay for endotoxin contamination:

The LPS concentrations in the used reagents such as PBS, HBSS, FBS, chicken serum, endotoxin free water, gelatin and all the growth media were determined using Limulus Amebocyte Lysate LPS detection assay (E-TOXATE<sup>TM</sup> kit; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

#### 2.6 Assay for NO production:

Cell-free culture supernatants were assayed for nitrite, a stable metabolite of NO, using a Griess reagent system (Promega, Madison, WI, Canada) according to the manufacturer's recommendation. A detailed protocol of Griess assay is enclosed (Appendix 1). The optical density (OD) of the final colorimetric product resulted from the reaction of nitrite with 1% sulfanilamide and 0.1% N-1-naftyletylendiamin dihydrochloride was read at 548 nm using a SPECTRAMAX M<sub>2</sub> microplate reader (Molecular devices, Sunnyvale, CA). The concentration of nitrite was quantified using sodium nitrite as a standard.

#### 2.7 Flow cytometry:

Standard flow cytometry procedures were used in the experiments. Briefly, the isolated LMH cells or MQ-NCSU cells were washed with 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) fraction V (w/v; OmniPur, EMD, Darmstadt, Germany) made in PBS and centrifuged for 10 min at  $211 \times g$ 

(4° C) and then resuspended in 100μl of 1% BSA with purified mouse IgG (10μg per one million cells) (Abcam, Ontario, Canada) about 10 min for Fc blocking. Following centrifugation once again, cells were resuspended in the dark with a final concentration of 0.02μg/μL mouse anti-human CD284 (TLR4) phycoerythrin (PE) mAb (eBioscience, San Diego, CA, USA), or mouse anti-human CD14 FITC mAb (eBioscience, San Diego, CA, USA), with respective isotype controls or 1% BSA (unstained controls) on ice for 30 min. Finally, cells were washed twice with 1% BSA. Flow cytometry samples were analyzed using a BD LSR II (BD Biosciences, Mississauga, ON, Canada) flow cytometer.

#### 2.8 Data analysis

NO concentrations data were analysed using ANOVA test followed by Tukey's test (Minitab Inc., State College, Pennsylvania, USA) for mean separation in order to identify differences between groups. Before being tested, each set of data was analyzed using the Grubbs' test (GraphPad software Inc., CA 92037, USA) to identify outliers. Comparisons were considered significant at  $P \le 0.05$ .

#### 2.9 Results:

#### **2.9.1 ILTV replicates and produces cytopathic effects on monolayer of LMH cells:**

ILTV has been known to replicate and produce plaques in LMH cells (Schnitzlein et al., 1994). We confirmed that the ILTV replicates in LMH cells and results in visible plaques at the second passage of the virus. The microscopic images of infected and uninfected monolayers of LMH cells 2- and 5-day post-infection are illustrated in Figure 2-1. By 2-day post-infection, the

infected cells increased in size and became rounded but still attached to the cell tissue plates (Figure 2-1b). By 5 day post-infection, the infected cells detached from the plates and plaque formation became evident (Figure 2-1d). Furthermore, the representative stained LMH cells infected with 10-fold serial dilutions of ILTV are shown in Figure 2-2.

### 2.9.2 LMH cells are unable to produce NO following LPS stimulation compared to RAW 264.7 cells:

Since ILTV replicates in LMH cells producing appreciable plaque forming units, compared to RAW 264.7 cells, we next evaluated whether these cells could be stimulated with LPS to produce NO with goal of using LMH cells for LPS stimulation and evaluation of treatment effect on ILTV replication. NO production in LMH and RAW264.7 cells following stimulation with a range of concentrations of EC-LPS and SE-LPS is illustrated in Figures 2-3 and 2-4, respectively.



**Figure 2-1**: ILTV replicates and produces cytopathic effects on monolayer of LMH cells. LMH cells were cultured in 6-well tissue culture plates, and they were infected with 10-fold serial dilutions of ILTV with a titer of  $1.27 \times 10^6$  PFU/ml with uninfected controls. 2- and 5-day post-infection ILTV infected and control 6-well plates were examined microscopically to observe morphological changes produced by the ILTV. a and c) uninfected monolayers of LMH cells at 2- and 5-day post-infection respectively, b and d) ILTV infected monolayers of LMH cells at 2- and 5-day post infection respectively. The scale bar represents 50µm.



**Figure 2-2**: ILTV produces visible plaques in monolayers of LMH cells. LMH cell monolayers were prepared in 6-well tissue culture plates, infected with 10-fold serial dilutions of ILTV with a titre of  $1.27 \times 10^6$  plaque forming unit (PFU)/ml with uninfected controls. 5 d post-infection infected and control 6-well plates were stained with 1% crystal violet to visualize plaques. The figure illustrates a representative ILTV infected 6-well plate. a)  $10^{-1}$ ; b)  $10^{-2}$ ; c)  $10^{-3}$ ; d)  $10^{-4}$ ; e)  $10^{-5}$ ; f)  $10^{-6}$ . The arrow points an ILTV plaque.

We discovered that compared to RAW 264.7, LMH cells were not responsive for stimulation with range of EC-LPS and SE-LPS concentrations (0.01-100  $\mu$ g/ml) and did not produce a significant amount of NO when compared to the un-stimulated controls (P>0.05). The viability of the cells at all different time courses (24, 48 and 72 h post-treatment) was more than 95% according to trypan blue exclusion.



E. coli LPS concentration (µg/ml)

Figure 2-3: LMH cells are unable to produce NO following EC-LPS stimulation. LMH and RAW 264.7 cells were cultured in 96 well plates ( $1 \times 10^5$  cells/well) 24 h before treatments with 100, 10, 1, 0.1, 0.01, 0.001, 0.0001 and 0 µg/ml concentrations of EC-LPS. 24, 48 and 72 h posttreatment culture supernatants were collected and analyzed for NO production using Griess test. a-c) represent NO production in RAW 264.7 cells stimulated with EC-LPS 24, 48 and 72 h postinfection respectively whereas d-f) represent NO production in LMH cells stimulated with EC-LPS 24, 48 and 72 h post-infection respectively. Each bar represents mean values  $\pm$  SEM for 3 replicates for LMH cells. The data were analyzed using ANOVA test followed by Tukey's test for mean separation. Significance was measured at p value of  $\leq 0.05$ . \* Indicates that the NO production is significantly higher when compared to the control.



S. enteritidis LPS concentration (µg/ ml)

**Figure 2-4**: LMH cells are unable to produce NO following SE-LPS stimulation. LMH and RAW 264.7 cells were cultured in 96 well plates ( $1 \times 10^5$  cells/well) 24 h before treatments with 100, 10, 1, 0.1, 0.01, 0.001, 0.0001 and 0 µg/ml concentrations of SE-LPS. 24, 48 and 72 h post-treatment culture supernatants were collected and analyzed for NO production using Griess test. a-c) represent NO production in RAW 264.7 cells stimulated with SE-LPS 24, 48 and 72 h post-infection respectively whereas d-f) represent NO production in LMH cells stimulated with SE-LPS 24, 48 and 72 h post-infection respectively. Each bar represents mean values ± SEM for 3 replicates for LMH cells. The data were analyzed using ANOVA test followed by Tukey's test for mean separation. Significance was measured at *p* value of ≤0.05. \* Indicates that the NO production is significantly higher when compared to the control.

#### 2.9.3 LMH cells express TLR4 and CD14 constitutively:

Since LMH cells are not responsive to different concentrations of EC-LPS and SE-LPS, we next evaluated whether LMH cells express LPS receptors such as TLR4 and CD14 receptors. As illustrated in the Figure 2-5, only a small percentage of LMH cells express TLR4 and CD14 receptors.

# 2.9.4 Avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) produce NO following treatment with LPS similar to murine macrophages (RWA 264.7) in a dose dependent manner:

NO production in MQ-NCSU and RAW 264.7 cells following stimulation, with a range of concentrations of LPS from EC-LPS and SE-LPS, is illustrated in Figures 2-6 and 2-7. MQ-NCSU cells responded to stimulation with LPS producing a significant amount of NO when compared to the un-stimulated controls ( $P \le 0.05$ ). The pattern of NO production by MQ-NCSU cells was similar to that observed in murine macrophages, RAW264.7. Both EC-LPS and SE-LPS were capable of stimulating MQ-NCSU cells and RAW264.7 cells similarly. Of the tested LPS concentrations of EC-LPS and SE-LPS, the concentrations that ranged from 0.01-100 µg/ml resulted in significantly higher NO concentrations in MQ-NCSU and RAW264.7 cells when compared to the controls following LPS stimulation at 24, 48 and 72 h post-stimulation ( $P \le 0.05$ ). Viability of the cells in all different time courses were more than 95% according to trypan blue exclusion.



FITC-CD14

**Figure 2-5:** LMH cells express TLR4 and CD14 receptors constitutively. LMH cells were cultured in T-75 flasks for 24 h, cells were isolated and  $2 \times 10^6$  cells were stained for TLR4 expression using PE labelled mouse anti-human TLR4 and CD14 expression using FITC labeled mouse anti-human CD14 mAbs for FACS analysis. The experiment was done in triplicate. a) a representative FACS plot of isotype control for PE labeled mouse anti-human TLR4 b) a representative FACS plot of isotype control for FITC labeled mouse anti-human CD14 c) a representative FACS plot showing TLR4+ LMH cells, d) representative FACS plots showing CD14+ LMH cells.

### 2.9.5 Avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) increase the expression of TLR4 and CD14 following treatment with LPS:

Since MQ-NCSU cells were responsive to LPS, similar to murine macrophages, as has been indicated by the significant production of NO, MQ-NCSU cells were used for studying the expression of the LPS receptors, TLR4 and CD14. Although the concentration of the LPS used in this experiment was not the lowest concentration that produce significant NO production  $(0.01\mu g/ml)$ , we used  $0.1\mu g/ml$  as the lowest concentration of LPS that produced a substantial amount of NO over the controls.

Following treatment with EC-LPS, the expression of TLR4 and CD14 have been increased significantly in MQ-NCSU cells when compared to the controls at 6 h ( $P \le 0.05$ ) and 12 h ( $P \le 0.05$ ) post-treatment (Figure 2-8); whereas with SE-LPS, the MQ-NCSU cells expressing both TLR4 and CD14 increased significantly at 12 h post stimulation ( $P \le 0.05$ ) (Figure 2-9).

### 2.9.6 LPS treated culture supernatant of avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) inhibits ILTV replication in vitro:

Since it has been shown that NO can elicit antiviral response against avian viruses such as HVT, MDV and reovirus (Pertile et al., 1996; Xing and Schat, 2000), we hypothesised that culture supernatant of MQ-NCSU cells rich in NO may inhibit ILTV replication in LMH cells. Culture supernatants of MQ-NCSU cells produced following EC-LPS and SE-LPS treatment were transferred to ILTV susceptible cell line (LMH), and inhibited the ILTV replication significantly ( $P \le 0.05$ ; Figure 2-10).



E. coli LPS concentration (µg/ ml)

**Figure 2-6**. Avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) produce NO following treatment with EC-LPS similar to mouse macrophages in a dose dependent manner. Murine (RAW 264.7) and MQ-NCSU were cultured in 96 well plates ( $1 \times 10^5$  cells per well) 24 h before treatments with 100, 10, 1, 0.01, 0.001, 0.0001 and 0 µg/ml concentrations with EC-LPS. 24, 48 and 72 h post-treatment culture supernatants were collected and assayed for NO production using Griess assay. Each bar represents mean values ± SEM for 6 replicates for RAW 264.7 and MQ-NCSU cells. The data were analyzed using ANOVA test followed by Tukey's test for mean separation. Significance was measured at *p* value of ≤0.05. \* Indicates that the NO production is significantly higher when compared to the control.



S. enteritidis LPS concentration (µg/ ml)

**Figure 2-7**. Avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) produce NO following treatment with SE-LPS similar to mouse macrophages in a dose dependent manner. Murine (RAW 264.7) and MQ-NCSU were cultured in 96 well plates ( $1 \times 10^5$  cells per well) 24 h before treatments with 100, 10, 1, 0.01, 0.001, 0.0001 and 0 µg/ml concentrations with SE-LPS. 24, 48 and 72 h post-treatment culture supernatants were collected and assayed for NO production using Griess assay. Each bar represents mean values ± SEM for 6 replicates for RAW 264.7 and MQ-NCSU cells. The data were analyzed using ANOVA test followed by Tukey's test for mean separation. Significance was measured at *p* value of ≤0.05. \* Indicates that the NO production is significantly higher when compared to the control.

# 2.9.7 NO produced by avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) following LPS treatment inhibits ILTV replication in vitro:

Since the culture supernatants of MQ-NCSU cells that were produced following EC-LPS and SE-LPS treatment inhibited ILTV replication significantly (Figure 10), we then hypothesized that the inhibition of ILTV replication may be associated with increased NO production in MQ-NCSU cells.

First we determined the dose of SMT to be used for inhibition of NO production. We found that 1 mM concentration of SMT inhibits LPS induced NO production similar to the unstimulated control group (Figure 2-11).

Treatment of MQ-NCSU cells with EC-LPS and SE-LPS with an iNOS inhibitor significantly reduced the NO production when compared to MQ-NCSU cells treated only with EC-LPS and SE-LPS at 6 and 18 h post-treatment ( $P \le 0.05$ ; Figure 2-12 a and b). The viability of the cells in both time courses were more than 95% according to trypan blue exclusion. Culture supernatants produced by MQ-NCSU cells 6 h post-treatment with EC-LPS with an iNOS inhibitor abrogated the inhibitory effect of ILTV replication when compared to MQ-NCSU cells treated with EC-LPS alone ( $P \le 0.05$ ; Figures 2-12 c and 2-13). Culture supernatants produced by MQ-NCSU cells 18 h post-treatment with EC-LPS with an iNOS inhibitor abrogated the inhibitory effect of ILTV replication when compared to MQ-NCSU cells treated with EC-LPS alone ( $P \le 0.05$ ; Figures 2-12 c and 2-13). Culture supernatants produced by MQ-NCSU cells 18 h post-treatment with EC-LPS or SE-LPS with an iNOS inhibitor abrogated the inhibitory effect of ILTV replication when compared to MQ-NCSU cells treated with EC-LPS and SE-LPS alone ( $P \le 0.05$ ; Figure 2-12 d and 2-13).



**Figure 2-8.** Avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) increase the expression of TLR4 and CD14 following treatment with EC-LPS. MQ-NSU cells were cultured in T-75 flasks for 24 h and treated with 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml EC-LPS with un-stimulated controls. 3, 6 and 12 h post-treatment, the cells were isolated and 2×10<sup>6</sup> cells from each treatment or control stained for TLR4 expression using PE labelled mouse anti-human TLR4 and CD14 expression using FITC labeled mouse anti-human CD14 mAbs for flow cytometry analysis. The experiment was done in triplicate. Figure 2 a) a representative FACS plot of isotype control for PE labeled mouse anti-human TLR4 Ab, b) a representative fluorescent activated cell sorter (FACS) plot of isotype control for FITC labeled mouse anti-human CD14 Ab, c) a representative FACS plot showing TLR4+ CD14+ macrophages, d-f) representative FACS plots showing TLR4+ CD14+ macrophages at 3, 6 and 12 h post-treatment with EC-LPS respectively, g) illustrates the percentage of TLR4+ CD14+ macrophages 3, 6 and 12 h post-treatment with EC-LPS. To identify differences between groups ANOVA test was performed followed by Tukey's test for mean separation. Significance was measured at *p* value of  $\leq 0.05$ .



Figure 2-9. Avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) increase the expression of TLR4 and CD14 following treatment with SE-LPS. MQ-NSU cells were cultured in T-75 flasks for 24 h and treated with 0.1 µg/ml SE-LPS with un-stimulated controls. The experiment was conducted as has been indicated in the Figure 2.1 legend. Figure 2 a) a representative FACS plot of isotype control for PE labeled mouse anti-human TLR4 Ab, b) a representative FACS plot of isotype control for FITC labeled mouse anti-human CD14 Ab, c) a representative FACS plot showing TLR4+ CD14+ macrophages, h-j) representative FACS plots showing TLR4+ CD14+ macrophages at 3, 6 and 12 h post-treatment with SE-LPS respectively, k) illustrates the percentage of TLR4+ CD14+ macrophages at 3, 6 and 12 h post-treatment with SE-LPS. To identify differences between groups ANOVA test was performed followed by Tukey's test for mean separation. Significance was measured at *p* value of  $\leq 0.05$ .



**Figure 2-10.** LPS treated culture supernatant of avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) inhibits ILTV replication in vitro. MQ-NCSU cells were cultured in 6 well plates ( $2 \times 10^6$  cells per well) 24 h before treatments with 0.1 µg/ml EC-LPS, SE-LPS or PBS. 18 h post-treatment culture supernatants (500µl/well) were collected and transferred to naive LMH cells. Then, LMH cells were infected with 10-fold serial dilution of ILTV with a titer of  $1.27 \times 10^6$  PFU/ml. 5 d post-treatment the plates were stained with 1% crystal violet and PFU was counted. a) illustrates ILTV titers in EC-LPS and SE-LPS treated groups when compared to the control, b) illustrates representative ILTV titration plates from EC-LPS and SE-LPS treated groups compared to the control. Data represent mean values  $\pm$  SEM. To identify differences between groups ANOVA test was performed followed by Tukey's test for mean separation. Significance was measured at *p* value of  $\leq 0.05$ .

#### 2.9.8 NO produced spontaneously by SNAP inhibits ILTV replication in vitro

We found that 800 $\mu$ M of SNAP gives rise to about 45 $\mu$ M of nitrite which is similar to the nitrite concentration produced by MQ-NCSU cells treated with 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml EC-LPS for 18 h (Figure 2-14). This concentration of SNAP was made freshly in HBSS and exposed for 10 min to UV visible light and then transferred to the naïve LMH cells to be infected with ILTV. The antiviral assay was done in 6 well plates cultured with LMH cells (2× 10<sup>6</sup> cells per well). We included four groups: 1) control LMH cells treated with HBSS, 2) conditioned media of MQ-NCSU cells without treatment transferred to LMH cells, 3) LMH cells treated with 0.1 $\mu$ g/ml EC-LPS for 18 h, 4) 800 $\mu$ M SNAP made in HBSS transferred to LMH cells. All four groups were infected with 100 PFU ILTV/well. 5 d post-infection, the plates were stained with 1% crystal violet and PFU was counted. All experiments were done in triplicate. We found that the SNAP transferred group inhibits ILTV replication similar to what we observed for conditioned media of MQ-NCSU cells treated with 0.1 $\mu$ g/ml EC-LPS for 18 h. However, the other groups showed no antiviral response compared with unstimulated LMH cells (Figure 2-15).

#### 2.9.9 Endotoxin concentration in reagents:

Endotoxin concentrations of all the tested reagents were below 0.06 EU/ml.

#### 2.10 Discussion:

Our investigation described in this thesis led to four major findings. First, ILTV susceptible LMH cells express LPS receptors, but they are not responsive to EC-LPS and SE-LPS treatments as has been evaluated by production of NO. Second, EC-LPS and SE-LPS are

capable of inducing avian macrophage cell line (MQ-NCSU) similar to murine macrophages, leading to significant increase in LPS receptor expression and NO production in a dose dependent manner. Third, EC-LPS and SE-LPS elicit antiviral response against ILTV replication *in vitro*, and this protection was dependent on the increase in the expression of TLR4 and CD14 expression. Finally, the inhibition of ILTV replication mediated by EC-LPS and SE-LPS was critically dependent on the NO production by MQ-NCSU macrophages.

We showed that the expression of TLR4 and CD14 proteins on the cell surface of small portion of LMH cells was constitutive. Furthermore, LMH cells were not responsive to stimulation with a range of EC-LPS and SE-LPS as assessed by the production of NO. These findings are in agreement with the findings of Scott and colleagues who have shown that the mouse primary hepatocytes possess low amounts of the TLR4 receptor, and they are less responsive to LPS treatment (Scott et al., 2009; Shiratori et al., 1998). However, our observations contrast with the work of others who have shown that the murine hepatocytes are capable of producing NO in response to LPS treatment (Curran et al., 1989; Wood et al., 1993). The discrepancy between our results and the work of Curran et al. and Wood et al. could potentially be due to (1) species difference, (2) LMH cells gene rearrangements leading to inactivation of iNOS gene or other downstream molecule in TLR4 signaling pathway, and (3) the lack of downstream signaling molecules in LMH cells

We provided evidence that MQ-NCSU cells were responsive, as determined by NO production, to LPS treatment similar to murine macrophages. We used murine macrophages (RAW 264.7) as a positive control since previous studies have shown that murine cells could produce NO in response to LPS treatment (Nathan and Hibbs, 1991). Production of NO by MQ-NCSU cells in response to EC-LPS and SE-LPS treatment has been shown previously (Dil and

Qureshi, 2002a, b; Lillehoj and Li, 2004). In agreement with the previous studies, we also observed that MQ-NCSU cells produce NO in response to EC-LPS and SE-LPS.



**Figure 2-11.** NO produced by avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU cells) following EC-LPS treatment with different concentration of SMT. MQ-NCSU cells were cultured in 6 well plates  $(2 \times 10^6 \text{ cells per well})$  24 h before treatments with 0.1 µg/ml EC-LPS with various concentrations of SMT (0, 10, 100, 500, 1000µM). 18 h post-treatment, culture supernatants were collected and assayed for NO production using Griess assay. The control represents the group without LPS or SMT treatment. Data represent mean values ± SEM. To identify differences between groups ANOVA test was performed followed by Tukey's test for mean separation. Significance was measured at *p* value of ≤0.05. \* Indicates that the NO production is significantly decreased when compared to the control.



**Figure2-12**. NO produced by avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) following LPS treatment inhibits ILTV replication *in vitro*. MQ-NCSU cells were cultured in 6 well plates ( $2 \times 10^6$  cells per well) 24 h before treatment with 0.1 µg/ml EC-LPS or SE-LPS with or without NO inhibitor, SMT (1mM) or PBS. 6 and 18 h post-treatment culture supernatants were transferred to naive LMH cells. Then, LMH cells were infected with 100 PFU/culture of ILTV. The ability of SMT to inhibit production of NO was evaluated by Griess assay at 6 and 18 h. MQ-NCSU cells were incubated with or without SMT followed by treatment with LPS derived from EC-LPS or SE-LPS. a) represents the concentration of NO in cell culture supernatants at 18 h post-treatment, b) represents the concentration of NO in cell culture supernatants at 18 h post-treatment, c) shows the ILTV titers as a percentage following transfer of 18 h conditioned media from MQ-NCSU cells, d) shows the ILTV titers as a percentage following transfer of 18 h conditioned media from

MQ-NCSU cells. Data represent mean values  $\pm$  SEM. Significance was measured at *p* value of  $\leq 0.05$ . \* Indicates that the NO production is significantly higher, or virus titer is significantly decreased when compared to the control.



**Figure 2-13**. NO produced by avian macrophages (MQ-NCSU) following LPS treatment inhibits ILTV replication *in vitro*. The experiment was conducted as has been indicated in the Figure 2-12 legend. This figure illustrates representative ILTV titration plates from treatment and control groups.

It has been shown that the expression of avian CD14 and TLR4 can be quantified using anti-human mAbs against these two receptors, as they are components of the highly conserved innate immune system (Dil and Qureshi, 2002b; Janeway and Medzhitov, 2002). In agreement with this observation, we would also be able to quantify the expression of CD14 and TLR4 in MQ-NCSU cells using the same anti-human mAbs. Furthermore, we observed that MQ-NCSU cells express TLR4 and CD14 constitutively, but in a low number of cells, and both EC-LPS and SE-LPS were able to increase the expression of these two receptors significantly. These results are in agreement with previous studies that have shown that LPS-induced up-regulation (both transcriptionally and translationally) of CD14 and TLR4 in different cell types such as human monocytes and gingival fibroblasts (Landmann et al., 1996; Tabeta et al., 2000), and avian macrophages (Dil and Qureshi, 2002a, b). Moreover, since increased expression of LPS-related receptors gives rise to stronger signal transduction and finally higher iNOS expression and activity, a large number of LPS receptors on the surface of MQ-NCSU cells is in accordance with the greater inducible NO production (Dil and Qureshi, 2002b). Not only are TLR4 and CD14 inducible in response to LPS in chicken cells such as MQ-NCSU cells, but also there is a correlation between the inducible number of LPS receptors and LPS-stimulated NO production (Dil and Qureshi, 2002b).

The TLR4 ligand, LPS, has been shown to be inhibitory against HIV, human cytomegalovirus, classical swine fever virus and avian reovirus (Croen, 1993; Harwani et al., 2007; Knoetig et al., 2002; Pertile et al., 1996; Regev-Shoshani et al., 2013). In agreement with these observations, we observed that culture supernatants collected following LPS treatment of avian macrophage cell line, MQ-NCSU could reduce ILTV replication in susceptible LMH cells.

One of the more important explanations of the antimicrobial activities of macrophages is production of NO (MacMicking et al., 1997; Stuehr and Marletta, 1987). The antiviral properties of NO have been shown to be effective against mammalian viruses (Croen, 1993; Mehta et al., 2012; Regev-Shoshani et al., 2013). Xing and Schat (2000) have shown that the inhibition of MDV and HVT replication in CEF stimulated by LPS following recombinant ChIFN- $\gamma$  is mediated by NO, and not any other bioactive agents; including reactive oxygen species, IL-1 $\beta$ and IL-6 like molecules produced following the treatment (Xing and Schat, 2000). Pertile et al. (1996) have also shown that a NO-mediated antiviral effect against avian reovirus in HD11 cells treated with spleen cell conditioned-medium or LPS (Pertile et al., 1996). We showed that LMH cells are suitable for ILTV replication leading to plaque formation, but they are not responsive to LPS stimulation as has been shown by low production of NO. We also investigated to determine whether the NO produced by MQ-NCSU cells treated by EC-LPS and SE-LPS was inhibitory to ILTV replication in the avian LMH cell line. Our data indicated that EC-LPS and SE-LPS induced NO in MQ-NCSU cell elicited antiviral activity against ILTV.



**Figure 2-14.** NO produced spontaneously by a range of concentrations of SNAP. Different concentrations of SNAP (800, 400, 200, 100 $\mu$ M) were made in HBSS. Then, each concentration was assayed for NO production using the Griess assay. To identify differences between groups, ANOVA test was performed followed by Tukey's test for mean separation. Data represent mean values  $\pm$  SEM. Significance was measured at *p* value of  $\leq 0.01$ . \* Indicates that the NO production is significantly higher.



**Figure 2-15.** NO produced spontaneously by SNAP inhibits ILTV replication *in vitro*. The antiviral assay was done in 6 well plates cultured with LMH cells  $(2 \times 10^6 \text{ cells per well})$ . We included four groups: 1) control LMH cells treated with HBSS, 2) conditioned media of MQ-NCSU cells without treatment transferred to LMH cells, 3) LMH cells treated with 0.1µg/ml EC-LPS for 18 h, 4) 800µM SNAP made in HBSS transferred to LMH cells. All four groups were infected with 100 PFU ILTV/well. Five d post-infection, the plates were stained with 1% crystal violet and PFU was counted. All experiments were done in triplicate. a) representative ILTV infected monolayer of LMH cells with HBSS; b) representative ILTV infected monolayer of LMH cells with 18 h untreated MQ-NCSU cell culture media; c) representative ILTV infected monolayer of LMH cells treated with 0.1 µg/ml EC-LPS for 18 h; d) representative

ILTV infected monolayer of LMH cells treated with 800µM SNAP; e) shows the ILTV titers as a percentage of the untreated control group. Data represent mean values  $\pm$  SEM. Significance was measured at *p* value of  $\leq 0.01$ . \* Indicates that ILTV titer is significantly decreased when compared to the control.
#### **CHAPTER 3: GENERAL DISCUSSION**

Current control of respiratory viruses such as ILTV in chickens is based on vaccination with modified live attenuated vaccine strains originating from embryo or tissue culture, which is dispensed via eye drop, aerosols or drinking water (Han and Kim, 2003). While ILTV vaccines limit the development of clinical disease, the vaccine virus can undergo latency and reactivation similar to the field virus (Bagust, 1986) and as a result, ILT outbreaks are encountered in vaccinated flocks (Hughes et al., 1991). Bird to bird spread of vaccine viral strains and a resultant increase in virulence also has been a concern in ILT control (Guy et al., 1991). These disadvantages of the current vaccines demand studies with a view of developing novel approaches that could be used as alternatives or adjunct to the existing means of control. One such approach may be stimulation of innate immune system through TLR ligands. TLR ligands, due to their immunostimulatory properties have been used therapeutically and prophylactically to confer immunity against several pathogens in mammals. In humans, ligands for TLR 3, 7 and 9 are the subject of numerous clinical trials against viral infections (Kanzler et al., 2007). In fact, poly I:C, LPS and CpG ODN can protect mice against lethal influenza virus challenges (Shinya et al., 2012; Wong et al., 2009). One of the TLR ligands, CpG which interact with chicken TLR21 has been shown to elicit antibacterial effects and protection against *E. coli* and *Salmonella* Thypimurium septisemias in chickens (Gomis et al., 2004; Taghavi et al., 2008). The immunostimulatory properties and antiviral effects of TLR3 lignds (dsRNA), LPS, and CpG against avian influenza virus infection in chickens have been shown (St Paul et al., 2012).

In the present research, I investigated antiviral activity of a TLR4 ligand, LPS against ILTV under *in vitro* conditions. Our investigation described in this thesis led to three major findings. First, EC-LPS and SE-LPS are capable of inducing only one of the two tested avian cell lines (MQ-NCSU), similar to murine macrophages by significantly increasing the TLR4-CD14 expression and NO production in a dose dependent manner. Secondly, EC-LPS and SE-LPS induce innate response towards ILTV replication *in vitro*, and this protection was correlated with TLR4 and CD14 expression. Finally, the inhibition of ILTV replication induced by the TLR4 pathway was critically dependent on the NO production by MQ-NCSU macrophages.

The long term goal of this research was to identify TLR ligands as antiviral compounds to be used for the control of ILTV, and other respiratory viruses in commercial and backyard poultry production systems. In recent years, much research has been directed towards the study of TLR ligands as antiviral compounds, and as adjuvants for the control of poultry viruses such as influenza, infectious bronchitis virus, reovirus and MDV (Dar et al., 2009; Pertile et al., 1996; St Paul et al., 2012; Xing and Schat, 2000). Before our studies were undertaken, little was known about the antiviral effects of LPS against poultry viruses (Pertile et al., 1996; Xing and Schat, 2000). Notably, these previous studies revealed that 1) LPS induced antiviral effect in HD11 avian macrophages against reovirus are dependent on NO production, and 2) IFNy plus LPS induced antiviral effect in CEF cells against MDV is dependent on NO production. Although these studies provided evidence indicating that there is a NO dependent antiviral response in chickens against economically important poultry viruses, LPS mediated NO dependent antiviral response against avian respiratory viruses has not been reported. Our findings of antiviral response against ILTV are consistent with previous studies that recorded antiviral effect against reovirus and MDV (Pertile et al., 1996; Xing and Schat, 2000). Thus, the current observation and previous two observations might indicate that the LPS is indeed a useful antiviral agent that could be used in vivo for poultry viral diseases control. However, the exact mechanism of antiviral response of NO against avian viruses as well as in vivo activity of LPS against avian viruses are still not defined adequately.

Although, there are limitations in the use of LPS in mammals, the chickens are less sensitive to toxic effects of LPS. The fact that chickens are more tolerant towards detrimental effects of LPS (Berczi et al., 1966) could be explained by the lower mobility of chicken CD14 in contrast to mammalian CD14, as it is a trans-membrane molecule rather than GPI-anchored molecule (Wu et al., 2009), and in particular by the lack of TRAM/TRIF pathway in chicken TLR4 signaling (Keestra and van Putten, 2008). Our group also has conducted some studies to elucidate whether LPS treatment of chicken embryos at embryo day (ED) 18 effect the hatchability of the embryonated eggs. The observation showed that delivery of LPS to ED18 embryo (up to 30µg/ embryo) could be tolerated without compromising the hatchability (unpublished data).

Despite the novel aspect of our work on the characterization of LPS-mediated NOdependent antiviral effect against ILTV, there were limitations to these studies. Firstly, my experiments were not extended to see whether the antiviral response we observed against ILTV was dependent on TLR4 pathway. We observed that LPS increases the expression of LPS receptors, TLR4 and CD14 significantly and we would have conducted LPS receptor blocking studies using anti TLR4 and anti-CD14 antibodies to show that the antiviral response elicited against ILTV is dependent on TLR4-CD14 signaling. Secondly, although we have convincingly shown that antiviral effect induced by LPS against ILTV was dependent on NO, it is of interest to see whether LPS induces other innate antiviral molecules in avian macrophages and whether those molecules possess antiviral effects against ILTV. Thirdly, it would have been interesting to conduct a study to elucidate the mechanism of NO-mediated antiviral effect against ILTV. The possible mechanisms of the NO-mediated antiviral effect that has documented for other viruses include direct DNA damage (Nguyen et al., 1992; Wink et al., 1991), disruption of metal ions in viral proteins (Rice et al., 1993), inhibition of ribonucleotide reductase encoded by herpesviruses (Kwon et al., 1991), and interference with intracellular signaling pathways affecting virus life cycle (Mannick et al., 1994). Fourthly, we need to gather accurate evidence to show that the NO-mediated antiviral effect against ILTV is elicited either extracellularly, intracellularly, or both. Finally, our work should be extended as an *in vivo* study to show the applicability of our work in the poultry production system. Taking the above limitations into account, future studies should be directed to extend our study. Over all, the findings of the studies presented here revealed the antiviral effect of LPS and NO against ILTV. Moreover our findings may lead to the development of novel strategies that effectively stimulate innate responses against ILTV.

# **CONCLUSIONS:**

- ILTV susceptible LMH cells express LPS receptors in less than 10% of cells and are not responsive to EC-LPS and SE-LPS treatments, as has been evaluated by the production of NO.
- MQ-NCSU avian macrophages produce NO and increase LPS receptor expression in response to EC-LPS and SE-LPS treatments.
- Cell culture supernatants of MQ-NCSU avian macrophages produced in response to EC-LPS and SE-LPS treatments are inhibitory to ILTV replication *in vitro*.
- 4. Inhibition of NO production in MQ-NCSU avian macrophages decreases the SE-LPS and EC-LPS induced NO production consequently, abrogating the ILTV inhibition.
- The inhibition of ILTV replication by NO in LMH cells was further confirmed using a NO donor, SNAP, as a source of NO.

### **BIBLIOGRAPHY:**

Abasht, B., Sandford, E., Arango, J., Settar, P., Fulton, J.E., O'Sullivan, N.P., Hassen, A., Habier, D., Fernando, R.L., Dekkers, J.C., Lamont, S.J., 2009. Extent and consistency of linkage disequilibrium and identification of DNA markers for production and egg quality traits in commercial layer chicken populations. BMC Genomics 10 Suppl 2, S2.

Abraham, S.N., Arock, M., 1998. Mast cells and basophils in innate immunity. Semin Immunol 10, 373-381.

Aderem, A., Underhill, D.M., 1999. Mechanisms of phagocytosis in macrophages. Annu Rev Immunol 17, 593-623.

Adler, H.E., DaMassa, A.J., 1979. Toxicity of endotoxin to chicks. Avian Dis 23, 174-178.

Ahmad-Nejad, P., Hacker, H., Rutz, M., Bauer, S., Vabulas, R.M., Wagner, H., 2002. Bacterial CpG-DNA and lipopolysaccharides activate Toll-like receptors at distinct cellular compartments. Eur J Immunol 32, 1958-1968.

Ajami, B., Bennett, J.L., Krieger, C., Tetzlaff, W., Rossi, F.M., 2007. Local self-renewal can sustain CNS microglia maintenance and function throughout adult life. Nat Neurosci 10, 1538-1543.

Akira, S., 2003. Toll-like receptor signaling. J Biol Chem 278, 38105-38108.

Akira, S., 2006. TLR signaling. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 311, 1-16.

Akira, S., Takeda, K., 2004. Functions of toll-like receptors: lessons from KO mice. C R Biol 327, 581-589.

Arpaia, N., Godec, J., Lau, L., Sivick, K.E., McLaughlin, L.M., Jones, M.B., Dracheva, T., Peterson, S.N., Monack, D.M., Barton, G.M., 2011. TLR signaling is required for Salmonella typhimurium virulence. Cell 144, 675-688.

Ashkar, A.A., Yao, X.D., Gill, N., Sajic, D., Patrick, A.J., Rosenthal, K.L., 2004. Toll-like receptor (TLR)-3, but not TLR4, agonist protects against genital herpes infection in the absence of inflammation seen with CpG DNA. J Infect Dis 190, 1841-1849.

Bagust, T.J., 1986. Laryngotracheitis (Gallid-1) herpesvirus infection in the chicken. 4. Latency establishment by wild and vaccine strains of ILT virus. Avian Pathol 15, 581-595.

Bagust, T.J., Jones, R.C., Guy, J.S., 2000. Avian infectious laryngotracheitis. Rev Sci Tech 19, 483-492.

Bell, D., Young, J.W., Banchereau, J., 1999. Dendritic cells. Adv Immunol 72, 255-324.

Berczi, I., Bertok, L., Bereznai, T., 1966. Comparative studies on the toxicity of Escherichia coli lipopolysaccharide endotoxin in various animal species. Can J Microbiol 12, 1070-1071.

Beug, H., von Kirchbach, A., Doderlein, G., Conscience, J.F., Graf, T., 1979. Chicken hematopoietic cells transformed by seven strains of defective avian leukemia viruses display three distinct phenotypes of differentiation. Cell 18, 375-390.

Beutler, B., 2005. The Toll-like receptors: analysis by forward genetic methods. Immunogenetics 57, 385-392.

Beutler, B., Hoebe, K., Du, X., Ulevitch, R.J., 2003. How we detect microbes and respond to them: the Toll-like receptors and their transducers. J Leukoc Biol 74, 479-485.

Beutler, B., Rietschel, E.T., 2003. Innate immune sensing and its roots: the story of endotoxin. Nat Rev Immunol 3, 169-176.

Biron, C.A., Nguyen, K.B., Pien, G.C., Cousens, L.P., Salazar-Mather, T.P., 1999. Natural killer cells in antiviral defense: function and regulation by innate cytokines. Annu Rev Immunol 17, 189-220.

Bombara, C.J., Taylor, R.L., Jr., 1991. Signal transduction events in chicken interleukin-1 production. Poult Sci 70, 1372-1380.

Brandenburg, K., Wiese, A., 2004. Endotoxins: relationships between structure, function, and activity. Curr Top Med Chem 4, 1127-1146.

Brownlie, R., Zhu, J., Allan, B., Mutwiri, G.K., Babiuk, L.A., Potter, A., Griebel, P., 2009. Chicken TLR21 acts as a functional homologue to mammalian TLR9 in the recognition of CpG oligodeoxynucleotides. Mol Immunol 46, 3163-3170.

Cario, E., Brown, D., McKee, M., Lynch-Devaney, K., Gerken, G., Podolsky, D.K., 2002. Commensal-associated molecular patterns induce selective toll-like receptor-trafficking from apical membrane to cytoplasmic compartments in polarized intestinal epithelium. Am J Pathol 160, 165-173.

Chen, C.J., Kono, H., Golenbock, D., Reed, G., Akira, S., Rock, K.L., 2007. Identification of a key pathway required for the sterile inflammatory response triggered by dying cells. Nat Med 13, 851-856.

Clarke, J.K., Robertson, G.M., Purcell, D.A., 1980. Spray vaccination of chickens using infectious laryngotracheitis virus. Aust Vet J 56, 424-428.

Cormican, P., Lloyd, A.T., Downing, T., Connell, S.J., Bradley, D., O'Farrelly, C., 2009. The avian Toll-Like receptor pathway--subtle differences amidst general conformity. Dev Comp Immunol 33, 967-973.

Croen, K.D., 1993. Evidence for antiviral effect of nitric oxide. Inhibition of herpes simplex virus type 1 replication. J Clin Invest 91, 2446-2452.

Cruickshank, J.G., Berry, D.M., Hay, B., 1963. The fine structure of infectious laryngotracheitis virus. Virology 20, 376-378.

Curran, R.D., Billiar, T.R., Stuehr, D.J., Hofmann, K., Simmons, R.L., 1989. Hepatocytes produce nitrogen oxides from L-arginine in response to inflammatory products of Kupffer cells. J Exp Med 170, 1769-1774.

Dar, A., Potter, A., Tikoo, S., Gerdts, V., Lai, K., Babiuk, L.A., Mutwiri, G., 2009. CpG oligodeoxynucleotides activate innate immune response that suppresses infectious bronchitis virus replication in chicken embryos. Avian Dis 53, 261-267.

Davison, S., Gingerich, E.N., Casavant, S., Eckroade, R.J., 2006. Evaluation of the efficacy of a live fowlpox-vectored infectious laryngotracheitis/avian encephalomyelitis vaccine against ILT viral challenge. Avian Dis 50, 50-54.

de Zoete, M.R., Bouwman, L.I., Keestra, A.M., van Putten, J.P., 2011. Cleavage and activation of a Toll-like receptor by microbial proteases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108, 4968-4973.

Dietert, R.R., Golemboski, K.A., 1998. Avian macrophage metabolism. Poult Sci 77, 990-997.

Dil, N., Qureshi, M.A., 2002a. Differential expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase is associated with differential Toll-like receptor-4 expression in chicken macrophages from different genetic backgrounds. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 84, 191-207.

Dil, N., Qureshi, M.A., 2002b. Involvement of lipopolysaccharide related receptors and nuclear factor kappa B in differential expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase in chicken macrophages from different genetic backgrounds. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 88, 149-161.

Edwards, J.P., Zhang, X., Frauwirth, K.A., Mosser, D.M., 2006. Biochemical and functional characterization of three activated macrophage populations. J Leukoc Biol 80, 1298-1307.

Epstein, J., Eichbaum, Q., Sheriff, S., Ezekowitz, R.A., 1996. The collectins in innate immunity. Curr Opin Immunol 8, 29-35.

Erdman, S., Fox, J.G., Dangler, C.A., Feldman, D., Horwitz, B.H., 2001. Typhlocolitis in NF-kappa B-deficient mice. J Immunol 166, 1443-1447.

Erwig, L.P., Henson, P.M., 2007. Immunological consequences of apoptotic cell phagocytosis. Am J Pathol 171, 2-8.

Fahey, K.J., York, J.J., 1990. The role of mucosal antibody in immunity to infectious laryngotracheitis virus in chickens. J Gen Virol 71 (Pt 10), 2401-2405.

Farnell, M.B., Crippen, T.L., He, H., Swaggerty, C.L., Kogut, M.H., 2003. Oxidative burst mediated by toll like receptors (TLR) and CD14 on avian heterophils stimulated with bacterial toll agonists. Dev Comp Immunol 27, 423-429.

Fearon, D.T., Locksley, R.M., 1996. The instructive role of innate immunity in the acquired immune response. Science 272, 50-53.

Fraser, I.P., Koziel, H., Ezekowitz, R.A., 1998. The serum mannose-binding protein and the macrophage mannose receptor are pattern recognition molecules that link innate and adaptive immunity. Semin Immunol 10, 363-372.

Fuchs, W., Veits, J., Helferich, D., Granzow, H., Teifke, J.P., Mettenleiter, T.C., 2007. Molecular biology of avian infectious laryngotracheitis virus. Vet Res 38, 261-279.

Fuchs, W., Wiesner, D., Veits, J., Teifke, J.P., Mettenleiter, T.C., 2005. In vitro and in vivo relevance of infectious laryngotracheitis virus gJ proteins that are expressed from spliced and nonspliced mRNAs. J Virol 79, 705-716.

Fuchs, W., Ziemann, K., Teifke, J.P., Werner, O., Mettenleiter, T.C., 2000. The non-essential UL50 gene of avian infectious laryngotracheitis virus encodes a functional dUTPase which is not a virulence factor. J Gen Virol 81, 627-638.

Galanos, C., Luderitz, O., Rietschel, E.T., Westphal, O., Brade, H., Brade, L., Freudenberg, M., Schade, U., Imoto, M., Yoshimura, H., et al., 1985. Synthetic and natural Escherichia coli free lipid A express identical endotoxic activities. Eur J Biochem 148, 1-5.

Garcia, K.C., Teyton, L., Wilson, I.A., 1999. Structural basis of T cell recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 17, 369-397.

Geller, D.A., Billiar, T.R., 1998. Molecular biology of nitric oxide synthases. Cancer Metastasis Rev 17, 7-23.

Golenbock, D.T., Hampton, R.Y., Qureshi, N., Takayama, K., Raetz, C.R., 1991. Lipid A-like molecules that antagonize the effects of endotoxins on human monocytes. J Biol Chem 266, 19490-19498.

Gomis, S., Babiuk, L., Allan, B., Willson, P., Waters, E., Ambrose, N., Hecker, R., Potter, A., 2004. Protection of neonatal chicks against a lethal challenge of Escherichia coli using DNA containing cytosine-phosphodiester-guanine motifs. Avian Dis 48, 813-822.

Gordon, S., 2003. Alternative activation of macrophages. Nat Rev Immunol 3, 23-35.

Gordon, S., 2007. The macrophage: past, present and future. Eur J Immunol 37 Suppl 1, S9-17.

Gordon, S., Taylor, P.R., 2005. Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity. Nat Rev Immunol 5, 953-964.

Granzow, H., Klupp, B.G., Fuchs, W., Veits, J., Osterrieder, N., Mettenleiter, T.C., 2001. Egress of alphaherpesviruses: comparative ultrastructural study. J Virol 75, 3675-3684.

Guo, L., Lim, K.B., Gunn, J.S., Bainbridge, B., Darveau, R.P., Hackett, M., Miller, S.I., 1997. Regulation of lipid A modifications by Salmonella typhimurium virulence genes phoP-phoQ. Science 276, 250-253.

Guo, L., Lim, K.B., Poduje, C.M., Daniel, M., Gunn, J.S., Hackett, M., Miller, S.I., 1998. Lipid A acylation and bacterial resistance against vertebrate antimicrobial peptides. Cell 95, 189-198.
Guo, P., Scholz, E., Turek, J., Nodgreen, R., Maloney, B., 1993. Assembly pathway of avian infectious laryngotracheitis virus. Am J Vet Res 54, 2031-2039.

Guy, J.S., Barnes, H.J., Smith, L., 1991. Increased virulence of modified-live infectious laryngotracheitis vaccine virus following bird-to-bird passage. Avian Dis 35, 348-355.

Han, M.G., Kim, S.J., 2003. Efficacy of live virus vaccines against infectious laryngotracheitis assessed by polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphism. Avian Dis 47, 261-271.

Hankins, J.V., Trent, M.S., 2009. Secondary acylation of Vibrio cholerae lipopolysaccharide requires phosphorylation of Kdo. J Biol Chem 284, 25804-25812.

Harwani, S.C., Lurain, N.S., Zariffard, M.R., Spear, G.T., 2007. Differential inhibition of human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) by toll-like receptor ligands mediated by interferon-beta in human foreskin fibroblasts and cervical tissue. Virol J 4, 133.

Hawkins, L.D., Christ, W.J., Rossignol, D.P., 2004. Inhibition of endotoxin response by synthetic TLR4 antagonists. Curr Top Med Chem 4, 1147-1171.

Haziot, A., Chen, S., Ferrero, E., Low, M.G., Silber, R., Goyert, S.M., 1988. The monocyte differentiation antigen, CD14, is anchored to the cell membrane by a phosphatidylinositol linkage. J Immunol 141, 547-552.

He, H., Genovese, K.J., Nisbet, D.J., Kogut, M.H., 2006a. Involvement of phosphatidylinositolphospholipase C in immune response to Salmonella lipopolysacharide in chicken macrophage cells (HD11). Int Immunopharmacol 6, 1780-1787.

He, H., Genovese, K.J., Nisbet, D.J., Kogut, M.H., 2006b. Profile of Toll-like receptor expressions and induction of nitric oxide synthesis by Toll-like receptor agonists in chicken monocytes. Mol Immunol 43, 783-789.

Heil, F., Ahmad-Nejad, P., Hemmi, H., Hochrein, H., Ampenberger, F., Gellert, T., Dietrich, H., Lipford, G., Takeda, K., Akira, S., Wagner, H., Bauer, S., 2003. The Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7)-specific stimulus loxoribine uncovers a strong relationship within the TLR7, 8 and 9 subfamily. Eur J Immunol 33, 2987-2997.

Hellerqvist, C.G., Lindberg, B., Svensson, S., Holme, T., Lindberg, A.A., 1969. Structural studies on the O-specific side chains of the cell wall lipopolysaccharides from Salmonella typhi and S. enteritidis. Acta Chem Scand 23, 1588-1596.

Higuchi, M., Matsuo, A., Shingai, M., Shida, K., Ishii, A., Funami, K., Suzuki, Y., Oshiumi, H., Matsumoto, M., Seya, T., 2008. Combinational recognition of bacterial lipoproteins and peptidoglycan by chicken Toll-like receptor 2 subfamily. Dev Comp Immunol 32, 147-155.

Hong, C.C., Shimomura-Shimizu, M., Muroi, M., Tanamoto, K., 2004. Effect of endocrine disrupting chemicals on lipopolysaccharide-induced tumor necrosis factor-alpha and nitric oxide production by mouse macrophages. Biol Pharm Bull 27, 1136-1139.

Hong, Y.H., Lillehoj, H.S., Lee, S.H., Park, D.W., Lillehoj, E.P., 2006. Molecular cloning and characterization of chicken lipopolysaccharide-induced TNF-alpha factor (LITAF). Dev Comp Immunol 30, 919-929.

Hornef, M.W., Frisan, T., Vandewalle, A., Normark, S., Richter-Dahlfors, A., 2002. Toll-like receptor 4 resides in the Golgi apparatus and colocalizes with internalized lipopolysaccharide in intestinal epithelial cells. J Exp Med 195, 559-570.

Hu, J., Jacinto, R., McCall, C., Li, L., 2002. Regulation of IL-1 receptor-associated kinases by lipopolysaccharide. J Immunol 168, 3910-3914.

Hughes, C.S., Williams, R.A., Gaskell, R.M., Jordan, F.T., Bradbury, J.M., Bennett, M., Jones, R.C., 1991. Latency and reactivation of infectious laryngotracheitis vaccine virus. Arch Virol 121, 213-218.

Iliev, D.B., Roach, J.C., Mackenzie, S., Planas, J.V., Goetz, F.W., 2005. Endotoxin recognition: in fish or not in fish? FEBS Lett 579, 6519-6528.

Inoue, M., Sato, A., 1988. Establishment and in vitro differentiation of a chicken monocytic leukemia cell line. Nihon Juigaku Zasshi 50, 648-653.

Inoue, M., Yamamoto, H., Hihara, H., 1992. Fc receptor expression and immune phagocytosis in chicken monocytic cell lines. J Vet Med Sci 54, 591-594.

Iqbal, M., Philbin, V.J., Smith, A.L., 2005. Expression patterns of chicken Toll-like receptor mRNA in tissues, immune cell subsets and cell lines. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 104, 117-127. Iwasaki, A., Medzhitov, R., 2004. Toll-like receptor control of the adaptive immune responses. Nat Immunol 5, 987-995.

Janeway, C.A., Jr., 2001. How the immune system works to protect the host from infection: a personal view. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 7461-7468.

Janeway, C.A., Jr., Medzhitov, R., 2002. Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 20, 197-216.

Jin, M.S., Lee, J.O., 2008. Structures of the toll-like receptor family and its ligand complexes. Immunity 29, 182-191.

Jones, R.C., Williams, R.A., Savage, C.E., Thorp, B.H., 1993. Isolation of infectious laryngotracheitis virus from proximal femora of lame broiler chickens. Res Vet Sci 55, 377-378. Kaisho, T., Akira, S., 2002. Toll-like receptors as adjuvant receptors. Biochim Biophys Acta 1589, 1-13.

Kanzler, H., Barrat, F.J., Hessel, E.M., Coffman, R.L., 2007. Therapeutic targeting of innate immunity with Toll-like receptor agonists and antagonists. Nat Med 13, 552-559.

Karsten, V., Murray, S.R., Pike, J., Troy, K., Ittensohn, M., Kondradzhyan, M., Low, K.B., Bermudes, D., 2009. msbB deletion confers acute sensitivity to CO2 in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium that can be suppressed by a loss-of-function mutation in zwf. BMC Microbiol 9, 170.

Kawaguchi, T., Nomura, K., Hirayama, Y., Kitagawa, T., 1987. Establishment and characterization of a chicken hepatocellular carcinoma cell line, LMH. Cancer Res 47, 4460-4464.

Keestra, A.M., de Zoete, M.R., van Aubel, R.A., van Putten, J.P., 2007. The central leucine-rich repeat region of chicken TLR16 dictates unique ligand specificity and species-specific interaction with TLR2. J Immunol 178, 7110-7119.

Keestra, A.M., van Putten, J.P., 2008. Unique properties of the chicken TLR4/MD-2 complex: selective lipopolysaccharide activation of the MyD88-dependent pathway. J Immunol 181, 4354-4362.

Khan, S.A., Everest, P., Servos, S., Foxwell, N., Zahringer, U., Brade, H., Rietschel, E.T., Dougan, G., Charles, I.G., Maskell, D.J., 1998. A lethal role for lipid A in Salmonella infections. Mol Microbiol 29, 571-579.

Kim, H.M., Park, B.S., Kim, J.I., Kim, S.E., Lee, J., Oh, S.C., Enkhbayar, P., Matsushima, N., Lee, H., Yoo, O.J., Lee, J.O., 2007. Crystal structure of the TLR4-MD-2 complex with bound endotoxin antagonist Eritoran. Cell 130, 906-917.

Kinjyo, I., Hanada, T., Inagaki-Ohara, K., Mori, H., Aki, D., Ohishi, M., Yoshida, H., Kubo, M., Yoshimura, A., 2002. SOCS1/JAB is a negative regulator of LPS-induced macrophage activation. Immunity 17, 583-591.

Klasing, K.C., Peng, R.K., 1987. Influence of cell sources, stimulating agents, and incubation conditions on release of interleukin-1 from chicken macrophages. Dev Comp Immunol 11, 385-394.

Knoetig, S.M., McCullough, K.C., Summerfield, A., 2002. Lipopolysaccharide-induced impairment of classical swine fever virus infection in monocytic cells is sensitive to 2-aminopurine. Antiviral Res 53, 75-81.

Kobayashi, K., Inohara, N., Hernandez, L.D., Galan, J.E., Nunez, G., Janeway, C.A., Medzhitov, R., Flavell, R.A., 2002. RICK/Rip2/CARDIAK mediates signalling for receptors of the innate and adaptive immune systems. Nature 416, 194-199.

Kogut, M.H., He, H., Kaiser, P., 2005a. Lipopolysaccharide binding protein/CD14/ TLR4dependent recognition of salmonella LPS induces the functional activation of chicken heterophils and up-regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine gene expression in these cells. Anim Biotechnol 16, 165-181. Kogut, M.H., Iqbal, M., He, H., Philbin, V., Kaiser, P., Smith, A., 2005b. Expression and function of Toll-like receptors in chicken heterophils. Dev Comp Immunol 29, 791-807.

Kogut, M.H., Swaggerty, C., He, H., Pevzner, I., Kaiser, P., 2006. Toll-like receptor agonists stimulate differential functional activation and cytokine and chemokine gene expression in heterophils isolated from chickens with differential innate responses. Microbes Infect 8, 1866-1874.

Kono, H., Rock, K.L., 2008. How dying cells alert the immune system to danger. Nat Rev Immunol 8, 279-289.

Krogfelt, K.A., Bergmans, H., Klemm, P., 1990. Direct evidence that the FimH protein is the mannose-specific adhesin of Escherichia coli type 1 fimbriae. Infect Immun 58, 1995-1998.

Kwon, N.S., Stuehr, D.J., Nathan, C.F., 1991. Inhibition of tumor cell ribonucleotide reductase by macrophage-derived nitric oxide. J Exp Med 174, 761-767.

Landmann, R., Knopf, H.P., Link, S., Sansano, S., Schumann, R., Zimmerli, W., 1996. Human monocyte CD14 is upregulated by lipopolysaccharide. Infect Immun 64, 1762-1769.

Lee, S.W., Markham, P.F., Coppo, M.J., Legione, A.R., Markham, J.F., Noormohammadi, A.H., Browning, G.F., Ficorilli, N., Hartley, C.A., Devlin, J.M., 2012. Attenuated vaccines can recombine to form virulent field viruses. Science 337, 188.

Leveque, G., Forgetta, V., Morroll, S., Smith, A.L., Bumstead, N., Barrow, P., Loredo-Osti, J.C., Morgan, K., Malo, D., 2003. Allelic variation in TLR4 is linked to susceptibility to Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium infection in chickens. Infect Immun 71, 1116-1124.

Li, L., Cousart, S., Hu, J., McCall, C.E., 2000. Characterization of interleukin-1 receptorassociated kinase in normal and endotoxin-tolerant cells. J Biol Chem 275, 23340-23345. Lillehoj, H.S., Li, G., 2004. Nitric oxide production by macrophages stimulated with Coccidia sporozoites, lipopolysaccharide, or interferon-gamma, and its dynamic changes in SC and TK strains of chickens infected with Eimeria tenella. Avian Dis 48, 244-253.

Lillehoj, H.S., Min, W., Dalloul, R.A., 2004. Recent progress on the cytokine regulation of intestinal immune responses to Eimeria. Poult Sci 83, 611-623.

Liu, L., Botos, I., Wang, Y., Leonard, J.N., Shiloach, J., Segal, D.M., Davies, D.R., 2008. Structural basis of toll-like receptor 3 signaling with double-stranded RNA. Science 320, 379-381.

Lokensgard, J.R., Gekker, G., Ehrlich, L.C., Hu, S., Chao, C.C., Peterson, P.K., 1997. Proinflammatory cytokines inhibit HIV-1(SF162) expression in acutely infected human brain cell cultures. J Immunol 158, 2449-2455.

Low, K.B., Ittensohn, M., Le, T., Platt, J., Sodi, S., Amoss, M., Ash, O., Carmichael, E., Chakraborty, A., Fischer, J., Lin, S.L., Luo, X., Miller, S.I., Zheng, L., King, I., Pawelek, J.M., Bermudes, D., 1999. Lipid A mutant Salmonella with suppressed virulence and TNFalpha induction retain tumor-targeting in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 17, 37-41.

Lynn, D.J., Lloyd, A.T., O'Farrelly, C., 2003. In silico identification of components of the Tolllike receptor (TLR) signaling pathway in clustered chicken expressed sequence tags (ESTs). Vet Immunol Immunopathol 93, 177-184.

MacMicking, J., Xie, Q.W., Nathan, C., 1997. Nitric oxide and macrophage function. Annu Rev Immunol 15, 323-350.

Maeda, H., Akaike, T., 1998. Nitric oxide and oxygen radicals in infection, inflammation, and cancer. Biochemistry (Mosc) 63, 854-865.

Mannick, J.B., 1995. The antiviral role of nitric oxide. Res Immunol 146, 693-697.

Mannick, J.B., Asano, K., Izumi, K., Kieff, E., Stamler, J.S., 1994. Nitric oxide produced by human B lymphocytes inhibits apoptosis and Epstein-Barr virus reactivation. Cell 79, 1137-1146.

Marletta, M.A., Hurshman, A.R., Rusche, K.M., 1998. Catalysis by nitric oxide synthase. Curr Opin Chem Biol 2, 656-663.

Matsumoto, M., Funami, K., Tanabe, M., Oshiumi, H., Shingai, M., Seto, Y., Yamamoto, A., Seya, T., 2003. Subcellular localization of Toll-like receptor 3 in human dendritic cells. J Immunol 171, 3154-3162.

Mayer, V.M., Hetrick, F.M., Keenum, W.D., DeVolt, H.M., 1967. Replication of infectious laryngotracheitis virus in chicken kidney cell culture. Am J Vet Res 28, 825-832.

Medzhitov, R., Janeway, C.A., Jr., 1997. Innate immunity: the virtues of a nonclonal system of recognition. Cell 91, 295-298.

Mehta, D.R., Ashkar, A.A., Mossman, K.L., 2012. The nitric oxide pathway provides innate antiviral protection in conjunction with the type I interferon pathway in fibroblasts. PLoS One 7, e31688.

Meijer, A.H., Gabby Krens, S.F., Medina Rodriguez, I.A., He, S., Bitter, W., Ewa Snaar-Jagalska, B., Spaink, H.P., 2004. Expression analysis of the Toll-like receptor and TIR domain adaptor families of zebrafish. Mol Immunol 40, 773-783.

Mettenleiter, T.C., 2002. Herpesvirus assembly and egress. J Virol 76, 1537-1547.

Meylan, E., Tschopp, J., Karin, M., 2006. Intracellular pattern recognition receptors in the host response. Nature 442, 39-44.

Mian, M.F., Lauzon, N.M., Andrews, D.W., Lichty, B.D., Ashkar, A.A., 2010. FimH can directly activate human and murine natural killer cells via TLR4. Mol Ther 18, 1379-1388.

Mizel, S.B., Snipes, J.A., 2002. Gram-negative flagellin-induced self-tolerance is associated with a block in interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase release from toll-like receptor 5. J Biol Chem 277, 22414-22420.

Moncada, S., Higgs, A., Furchgott, R., 1997. International Union of Pharmacology Nomenclature in Nitric Oxide Research. Pharmacol Rev 49, 137-142.

Murray, S.R., Bermudes, D., de Felipe, K.S., Low, K.B., 2001. Extragenic suppressors of growth defects in msbB Salmonella. J Bacteriol 183, 5554-5561.

Nakagawa, R., Naka, T., Tsutsui, H., Fujimoto, M., Kimura, A., Abe, T., Seki, E., Sato, S., Takeuchi, O., Takeda, K., Akira, S., Yamanishi, K., Kawase, I., Nakanishi, K., Kishimoto, T., 2002. SOCS-1 participates in negative regulation of LPS responses. Immunity 17, 677-687.

Nathan, C., 1992. Nitric oxide as a secretory product of mammalian cells. FASEB J 6, 3051-3064.

Nathan, C.F., Hibbs, J.B., Jr., 1991. Role of nitric oxide synthesis in macrophage antimicrobial activity. Curr Opin Immunol 3, 65-70.

Nau, G.J., Richmond, J.F., Schlesinger, A., Jennings, E.G., Lander, E.S., Young, R.A., 2002. Human macrophage activation programs induced by bacterial pathogens. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 1503-1508.

Nguyen, T., Brunson, D., Crespi, C.L., Penman, B.W., Wishnok, J.S., Tannenbaum, S.R., 1992. DNA damage and mutation in human cells exposed to nitric oxide in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89, 3030-3034.

Nishiya, T., DeFranco, A.L., 2004. Ligand-regulated chimeric receptor approach reveals distinctive subcellular localization and signaling properties of the Toll-like receptors. J Biol Chem 279, 19008-19017.

Nomura, F., Akashi, S., Sakao, Y., Sato, S., Kawai, T., Matsumoto, M., Nakanishi, K., Kimoto, M., Miyake, K., Takeda, K., Akira, S., 2000. Cutting edge: endotoxin tolerance in mouse peritoneal macrophages correlates with down-regulation of surface toll-like receptor 4 expression. J Immunol 164, 3476-3479.

Novotny, J., Bruccoleri, R., Newell, J., Murphy, D., Haber, E., Karplus, M., 1983. Molecular anatomy of the antibody binding site. J Biol Chem 258, 14433-14437.

O'Neill, L.A., 2002. Signal transduction pathways activated by the IL-1 receptor/toll-like receptor superfamily. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 270, 47-61.

O'Neill, L.A., Golenbock, D., Bowie, A.G., 2013. The history of Toll-like receptors - redefining innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 13, 453-460.

Ohto, U., Fukase, K., Miyake, K., Satow, Y., 2007. Crystal structures of human MD-2 and its complex with antiendotoxic lipid IVa. Science 316, 1632-1634.

Okamura, M., Lillehoj, H.S., Raybourne, R.B., Babu, U.S., Heckert, R.A., 2004. Cell-mediated immune responses to a killed Salmonella enteritidis vaccine: lymphocyte proliferation, T-cell changes and interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-1, IL-2, and IFN-gamma production. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis 27, 255-272.

Palsson-McDermott, E.M., O'Neill, L.A., 2004. Signal transduction by the lipopolysaccharide receptor, Toll-like receptor-4. Immunology 113, 153-162.

Park, J.S., Svetkauskaite, D., He, Q., Kim, J.Y., Strassheim, D., Ishizaka, A., Abraham, E., 2004. Involvement of toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in cellular activation by high mobility group box 1 protein. J Biol Chem 279, 7370-7377. Persichini, T., Colasanti, M., Fraziano, M., Colizzi, V., Medana, C., Polticelli, F., Venturini, G., Ascenzi, P., 1999. Nitric oxide inhibits the HIV-1 reverse transcriptase activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 258, 624-627.

Persing, D.H., Coler, R.N., Lacy, M.J., Johnson, D.A., Baldridge, J.R., Hershberg, R.M., Reed, S.G., 2002. Taking toll: lipid A mimetics as adjuvants and immunomodulators. Trends Microbiol 10, S32-37.

Pertile, T.L., Karaca, K., Sharma, J.M., Walser, M.M., 1996. An antiviral effect of nitric oxide: inhibition of reovirus replication. Avian Dis 40, 342-348.

Peterhans, E., 1997. Reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide in viral diseases. Biol Trace Elem Res 56, 107-116.

Philbin, V.J., Iqbal, M., Boyd, Y., Goodchild, M.J., Beal, R.K., Bumstead, N., Young, J., Smith, A.L., 2005. Identification and characterization of a functional, alternatively spliced Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7) and genomic disruption of TLR8 in chickens. Immunology 114, 507-521.

Pirher, N., Ivicak, K., Pohar, J., Bencina, M., Jerala, R., 2008. A second binding site for doublestranded RNA in TLR3 and consequences for interferon activation. Nat Struct Mol Biol 15, 761-763.

Powell, K.L., Baylis, S.A., 1995. The antiviral effects of nitric oxide. Trends Microbiol 3, 81-82.
Prideaux, C.T., Kongsuwan, K., Johnson, M.A., Sheppard, M., Fahey, K.J., 1992. Infectious laryngotracheitis virus growth, DNA replication, and protein synthesis. Arch Virol 123, 181-192.
Qureshi, M.A., Marsh, J.A., Dietert, R.R., Sung, Y.J., Nicolas-Bolnet, C., Petitte, J.N., 1994.
Profiles of chicken macrophage effector functions. Poult Sci 73, 1027-1034.

Qureshi, M.A., Miller, L., 1991. Signal requirements for the acquisition of tumoricidal competence by chicken peritoneal macrophages. Poult Sci 70, 530-538.

Qureshi, M.A., Miller, L., Lillehoj, H.S., Ficken, M.D., 1990. Establishment and characterization of a chicken mononuclear cell line. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 26, 237-250.

Qureshi, M.A., Petitte, J.N., Laster, S.M., Dietert, R.R., 1993. Avian macrophages: contribution to cellular microenvironment and changes in effector functions following activation. Poult Sci 72, 1280-1284.

Qureshi, S.T., Medzhitov, R., 2003. Toll-like receptors and their role in experimental models of microbial infection. Genes Immun 4, 87-94.

Raetz, C.R., Reynolds, C.M., Trent, M.S., Bishop, R.E., 2007. Lipid A modification systems in gram-negative bacteria. Annu Rev Biochem 76, 295-329.

Raetz, C.R., Whitfield, C., 2002. Lipopolysaccharide endotoxins. Annu Rev Biochem 71, 635-700.

Ralph, P., Nakoinz, I., Raschke, W.C., 1974. Lymphosarcoma cell growth is selectively inhibited by B lymphocyte mitogens: LPS, dextran sulfate and PPD. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 61, 1268-1275.

Raschke, W.C., Baird, S., Ralph, P., Nakoinz, I., 1978. Functional macrophage cell lines transformed by Abelson leukemia virus. Cell 15, 261-267.

Regev-Shoshani, G., Vimalanathan, S., McMullin, B., Road, J., Av-Gay, Y., Miller, C., 2013. Gaseous nitric oxide reduces influenza infectivity in vitro. Nitric Oxide 31, 48-53.

Reiss, C.S., Komatsu, T., 1998. Does nitric oxide play a critical role in viral infections? J Virol 72, 4547-4551.

Reynolds, H.A., Wetrach, A.M., Hanson, L.E., 1968. Development of the nuclear inclusion bodies of infectious laryngotracheitis. Avian Dis 12, 332-347.

Rice, W.G., Schaeffer, C.A., Harten, B., Villinger, F., South, T.L., Summers, M.F., Henderson, L.E., Bess, J.W., Jr., Arthur, L.O., McDougal, J.S., et al., 1993. Inhibition of HIV-1 infectivity by zinc-ejecting aromatic C-nitroso compounds. Nature 361, 473-475.

Ricklin, D., Hajishengallis, G., Yang, K., Lambris, J.D., 2010. Complement: a key system for immune surveillance and homeostasis. Nat Immunol 11, 785-797.

Rietschel, E.T., Kirikae, T., Schade, F.U., Mamat, U., Schmidt, G., Loppnow, H., Ulmer, A.J., Zahringer, U., Seydel, U., Di Padova, F., et al., 1994. Bacterial endotoxin: molecular relationships of structure to activity and function. FASEB J 8, 217-225.

Roach, J.C., Glusman, G., Rowen, L., Kaur, A., Purcell, M.K., Smith, K.D., Hood, L.E., Aderem, A., 2005. The evolution of vertebrate Toll-like receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 9577-9582.

Rossignol, D.P., Lynn, M., 2005. TLR4 antagonists for endotoxemia and beyond. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 6, 496-502.

Schnitzlein, W.M., Radzevicius, J., Tripathy, D.N., 1994. Propagation of infectious laryngotracheitis virus in an avian liver cell line. Avian Dis 38, 211-217.

Scholz, E., Welniak, E., Nyholm, T., Guo, P., 1993. An avian hepatoma cell line for the cultivation of infectious laryngotracheitis virus and for the expression of foreign genes with a mammalian promoter. J Virol Methods 43, 273-286.

Schwarz, H., Schneider, K., Ohnemus, A., Lavric, M., Kothlow, S., Bauer, S., Kaspers, B., Staeheli, P., 2007. Chicken toll-like receptor 3 recognizes its cognate ligand when ectopically expressed in human cells. J Interferon Cytokine Res 27, 97-101.

Scott, M.J., Liu, S., Shapiro, R.A., Vodovotz, Y., Billiar, T.R., 2009. Endotoxin uptake in mouse liver is blocked by endotoxin pretreatment through a suppressor of cytokine signaling-1-dependent mechanism. Hepatology 49, 1695-1708.

Shimazu, R., Akashi, S., Ogata, H., Nagai, Y., Fukudome, K., Miyake, K., Kimoto, M., 1999. MD-2, a molecule that confers lipopolysaccharide responsiveness on Toll-like receptor 4. J Exp Med 189, 1777-1782.

Shinya, K., Ito, M., Makino, A., Tanaka, M., Miyake, K., Eisfeld, A.J., Kawaoka, Y., 2012. The TLR4-TRIF pathway protects against H5N1 influenza virus infection. J Virol 86, 19-24.

Shiratori, Y., Ohmura, K., Hikiba, Y., Matsumura, M., Nagura, T., Okano, K., Kamii, K., Omata,

M., 1998. Hepatocyte nitric oxide production is induced by Kupffer cells. Dig Dis Sci 43, 1737-1745.

St Paul, M., Brisbin, J.T., Abdul-Careem, M.F., Sharif, S., 2013. Immunostimulatory properties of Toll-like receptor ligands in chickens. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 152, 191-199.

St Paul, M., Mallick, A.I., Read, L.R., Villanueva, A.I., Parvizi, P., Abdul-Careem, M.F., Nagy, E., Sharif, S., 2012. Prophylactic treatment with Toll-like receptor ligands enhances host immunity to avian influenza virus in chickens. Vaccine 30, 4524-4531.

Stamler, J.S., 1994. Redox signaling: nitrosylation and related target interactions of nitric oxide. Cell 78, 931-936.

Stamler, J.S., 1995. S-nitrosothiols and the bioregulatory actions of nitrogen oxides through reactions with thiol groups. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 196, 19-36.

Stamler, J.S., Hausladen, A., 1998. Oxidative modifications in nitrosative stress. Nat Struct Biol 5, 247-249.

Steinstraesser, L., Kraneburg, U., Jacobsen, F., Al-Benna, S., 2011. Host defense peptides and their antimicrobial-immunomodulatory duality. Immunobiology 216, 322-333.

Stover, A.G., Da Silva Correia, J., Evans, J.T., Cluff, C.W., Elliott, M.W., Jeffery, E.W., Johnson, D.A., Lacy, M.J., Baldridge, J.R., Probst, P., Ulevitch, R.J., Persing, D.H., Hershberg, R.M., 2004. Structure-activity relationship of synthetic toll-like receptor 4 agonists. J Biol Chem 279, 4440-4449.

Stuehr, D.J., 1997. Structure-function aspects in the nitric oxide synthases. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 37, 339-359.

Stuehr, D.J., Marletta, M.A., 1987. Induction of nitrite/nitrate synthesis in murine macrophages by BCG infection, lymphokines, or interferon-gamma. J Immunol 139, 518-525.

Suh, H.S., Zhao, M.L., Choi, N., Belbin, T.J., Brosnan, C.F., Lee, S.C., 2009. TLR3 and TLR4 are innate antiviral immune receptors in human microglia: role of IRF3 in modulating antiviral and inflammatory response in the CNS. Virology 392, 246-259.

Tabeta, K., Yamazaki, K., Akashi, S., Miyake, K., Kumada, H., Umemoto, T., Yoshie, H., 2000. Toll-like receptors confer responsiveness to lipopolysaccharide from Porphyromonas gingivalis in human gingival fibroblasts. Infect Immun 68, 3731-3735.

Taghavi, A., Allan, B., Mutwiri, G., Van Kessel, A., Willson, P., Babiuk, L., Potter, A., Gomis, S., 2008. Protection of neonatal broiler chicks against Salmonella Typhimurium septicemia by DNA containing CpG motifs. Avian Dis 52, 398-406.

Takimoto, T., Sato, K., Akiba, Y., Takahashi, K., 2008. Role of chicken TL1A on inflammatory responses and partial characterization of its receptor. J Immunol 180, 8327-8332.

Tang, S.C., Lathia, J.D., Selvaraj, P.K., Jo, D.G., Mughal, M.R., Cheng, A., Siler, D.A., Markesbery, W.R., Arumugam, T.V., Mattson, M.P., 2008. Toll-like receptor-4 mediates

neuronal apoptosis induced by amyloid beta-peptide and the membrane lipid peroxidation product 4-hydroxynonenal. Exp Neurol 213, 114-121.

Temperley, N.D., Berlin, S., Paton, I.R., Griffin, D.K., Burt, D.W., 2008. Evolution of the chicken Toll-like receptor gene family: a story of gene gain and gene loss. BMC Genomics 9, 62. Tong, G.Z., Zhang, S.J., Wang, L., Qiu, H.J., Wang, Y.F., Wang, M., 2001. Protection of chickens from infectious laryngotracheitis with a recombinant fowlpox virus expressing glycoprotein B of infectious laryngotracheitis virus. Avian Pathol 30, 143-148.

Trent, M.S., Pabich, W., Raetz, C.R., Miller, S.I., 2001. A PhoP/PhoQ-induced Lipase (PagL) that catalyzes 3-O-deacylation of lipid A precursors in membranes of Salmonella typhimurium. J Biol Chem 276, 9083-9092.

Tseng, L.P., Chiou, C.J., Chen, C.C., Deng, M.C., Chung, T.W., Huang, Y.Y., Liu, D.Z., 2009. Effect of lipopolysaccharide on intranasal administration of liposomal Newcastle disease virus vaccine to SPF chickens. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 131, 285-289.

Vandewalle, A., 2008. Toll-like receptors and renal bacterial infections. Chang Gung Med J 31, 525-537.

Verstak, B., Nagpal, K., Bottomley, S.P., Golenbock, D.T., Hertzog, P.J., Mansell, A., 2009. MyD88 adapter-like (Mal)/TIRAP interaction with TRAF6 is critical for TLR2- and TLR4mediated NF-kappaB proinflammatory responses. J Biol Chem 284, 24192-24203.

Wang, X., Ribeiro, A.A., Guan, Z., McGrath, S.C., Cotter, R.J., Raetz, C.R., 2006. Structure and biosynthesis of free lipid A molecules that replace lipopolysaccharide in Francisella tularensis subsp. novicida. Biochemistry 45, 14427-14440.

Wardlaw, A.J., Moqbel, R., Kay, A.B., 1995. Eosinophils: biology and role in disease. Adv Immunol 60, 151-266.

Watrach, A.M., Hanson, L.E., Watrach, M.A., 1963. The Structure of Infectious Laryngotracheitis Virus. Virology 21, 601-608.

Wedel, A., Frankenberger, M., Sulski, G., Petersmann, I., Kuprash, D., Nedospasov, S., Ziegler-Heitbrock, H.W., 1999. Role of p52 (NF-kappaB2) in LPS tolerance in a human B cell line. Biol Chem 380, 1193-1199.

Werling, L.L., Reed, S.C., Wade, D., Izenwasser, S., 2009. Chronic nicotine alters cannabinoidmediated locomotor activity and receptor density in periadolescent but not adult male rats. Int J Dev Neurosci 27, 263-269.

West, A.P., Koblansky, A.A., Ghosh, S., 2006. Recognition and signaling by toll-like receptors. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 22, 409-437.

Wilkinson, S.G., 1996. Bacterial lipopolysaccharides--themes and variations. Prog Lipid Res 35, 283-343.

Wink, D.A., Kasprzak, K.S., Maragos, C.M., Elespuru, R.K., Misra, M., Dunams, T.M., Cebula, T.A., Koch, W.H., Andrews, A.W., Allen, J.S., et al., 1991. DNA deaminating ability and genotoxicity of nitric oxide and its progenitors. Science 254, 1001-1003.

Wong, J.P., Christopher, M.E., Viswanathan, S., Dai, X., Salazar, A.M., Sun, L.Q., Wang, M., 2009. Antiviral role of toll-like receptor-3 agonists against seasonal and avian influenza viruses. Curr Pharm Des 15, 1269-1274.

Wood, E.R., Berger, H., Jr., Sherman, P.A., Lapetina, E.G., 1993. Hepatocytes and macrophages express an identical cytokine inducible nitric oxide synthase gene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 191, 767-774.

Wu, Z., Rothwell, L., Hu, T., Kaiser, P., 2009. Chicken CD14, unlike mammalian CD14, is trans-membrane rather than GPI-anchored. Dev Comp Immunol 33, 97-104.

Xie, Q.W., Cho, H.J., Calaycay, J., Mumford, R.A., Swiderek, K.M., Lee, T.D., Ding, A., Troso, T., Nathan, C., 1992. Cloning and characterization of inducible nitric oxide synthase from mouse macrophages. Science 256, 225-228.

Xing, Z., Schat, K.A., 2000. Inhibitory effects of nitric oxide and gamma interferon on in vitro and in vivo replication of Marek's disease virus. J Virol 74, 3605-3612.

Yilmaz, A., Shen, S., Adelson, D.L., Xavier, S., Zhu, J.J., 2005. Identification and sequence analysis of chicken Toll-like receptors. Immunogenetics 56, 743-753.

Zasloff, M., 2002. Antimicrobial peptides of multicellular organisms. Nature 415, 389-395.

Zhang, X., Mosser, D.M., 2008. Macrophage activation by endogenous danger signals. J Pathol 214, 161-178.

## **APPENDICES**

#### Appendix 1: NO measurement using Griess assay

The NO measurement was done using Griess test (Promega, Catalog Number: G2930). This test detects nitrite (NO2<sup>-</sup>) as a measure of NO present in a variety of biological matrices including cell culture supernatants. The limit of detection is  $2.5\mu$ M nitrite. The assay is based on the chemical reaction that nitrite present in our samples reacts with sulfanilamide to form a compound which reacts with N-1-napthylethylenediamine dihydrochloride in water (NED Solution) to form a final azo compound, which can be detected using spectrophotometry. The reagents, sulfanilamide and NSED solutions are provided in the kit.

# 1. Generation of standard curve

Preparation of a nitrite standard reference curve is required for each assay to ensure accurate quantitation of nitrite.

- Prepared 1ml of a 100µM nitrite solution by diluting the 0.1M nitrite standard 1:1,000 in the matrix used for the experimental samples (for example, phenol red free cell culture media)
- The assay was performed in flat bottomed 96 well plates and the standards included twofold serial dilutions of sodium nitrite ranged from 0 to 100µM

#### 2. Assay procedure

- The reagents, sulfanilamide solution and NED solution were equilibrated to room temperature (15–30 minutes)
- 2) Added 50µl of each experimental sample to wells in duplicate or triplicate

- Added 50µl of the sulfanilamide solution to all experimental samples and wells containing standards
- 4) Incubated for 5–10 minutes at room temperature in dark
- 5) Added 50µl of the NED solution to samples and standards
- 6) Incubated at room temperature for 5–10 minutes in dark
- Measured the absorbance within 30 minutes in a microplate reader (SpectraMax M<sub>2</sub>, Molecular Devices, California, United States) at a wave length of 548nm

# 3. Nitrite quantification

- A nitrite standard reference curve was generated based on average absorbance value of each concentration of the nitrite standard as a function of "Y" with nitrite concentration as a function of "X"
- Concentrations of each experimental sample were quantified by comparing to the nitrite standard reference curve generated

Reagent Name	Company	Cat. No.	Storage
TISSUE CULTURE MEDIA			
Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium (DMEM)	Invitrogen	11885-092	4°C
Leibovitz's L-15 medium	Invitrogen	11415-114	4°C
McCoy's 5A (modified)	Invitrogen	16600-082	4°C
Waymouth's MB 752/1	Invitrogen	11220-035	4°C
TISSUE CULTURE REAGENTS			
Gamma-irradiated fetal bovine serum (FBS)	Cellgro	35-070-	-20°C
		CV	
Chicken serum	Invitrogen	16110-082	-20°C
Sodium pyruvate 100 mM	Invitrogen	11360-070	4°C
<u>2-Mercaptoethanol 55 mM</u>	Invitrogen	21985023	4°C
Fungizone	Invitrogen	15290018	-20°C
TrypLE <sup>TM</sup> select (1X)	Invitrogen	12563-029	RT
Penicillin (10000 Units/mL) & streptomycin (10000	Invitrogen	15140-122	-20°C
μg/mL)			
L-Glutamine-200mM	Invitrogen	25030-081	-20°C
Endotoxin-free water	Sigma-	95289-1L	RT
	Aldrich		

Appendix 2. Chemical reagents and kits

Reagent Name	Company	Cat. No.	Storage
Phosphate buffered saline (PBS)	Lonza	17-516F	RT
1× hanks balanced salt solution (HBSS)	Invitrogen	14175095	RT
Tryptose phosphate broth	Sigma-Aldrich	T8159-	4°C
		100ml	
Gelatin 2%	Sigma-Aldrich	G1393-	4°C
		100ML	
FLOW CYTOMETRY			
Mouse anti-human TLR4 PE (Clone: HTA125)	eBioscience	12-9917	4°C
Mouse IgG2a, kappa PE	eBioscience	12-9917	4°C
Mouse anti-human CD14 FITC (Clone: M5E2)	BD Biosciences	555397	4°C
Mouse IgG2a, kappa FITC	BD Biosciences	555397	4°C
BSA	OmniPur	2960	RT
Mouse IgG	abcam	Ab37355	4°C
pH measurement			
pH electrode storage solution	VWR	14002-828	RT
SympHony buffer 4	VWR	87000-094	RT
SympHony buffer 7	VWR	87000-096	RT

Reagent Name		Company	Cat. No.	Storage
MISCELLANEOUS				
<u>Dimethyl sulfoxide (</u> DMSO <u>) (1X)</u>		Sigma-Aldrich	C6295-	RT
			50ML	
S-methylisothiourea hemisulfate salt		Sigma-Aldrich	M84445-	RT
			100G	
S-nitroso-N-acetyl-DL-penicillamine		Invitrogen	N-7892	-20°C
Lipopolysaccharides from Escherichia c	oli 0127:B8	Sigma-Aldrich	L4516-	4°C
			1MG	
Lipopolysaccharides from Salmonella		Sigma-Aldrich	L7770-	4°C
enterica serotype Enteritidis			1MG	
1% Crystal violet		Sigma-Aldrich	V5265-	RT
			500ML	
Kit name	Company		Cat. No.	
Griess reagent system	Promega		G2930	
E-TOXATE <sup>TM</sup> kit	Sigma-Aldrid	ch	ET0200-11	KT

## Appendix 3: Letter of permission to use the manuscript as a part of MSc thesis

As co-authors contributed to the paper entitled 'Induction of Toll-like receptor 4 signaling in avian macrophages inhibits infectious laryngotracheitis virus replication in a nitric oxide dependent way' (Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 2013 Aug 27. pii: S0165-2427(13)00236-5. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2013.08.005), we permit using materials in this paper as part of Siamak Haddadi's MSc thesis entitled 'Nitric Oxide Mediated Antiviral Response in Avian Cells' that will be submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies at University of Calgary in September 2013.

Co-authors name	Signature	Date
Dae-Sun Kim		
Hui Jasmine		
Frank van der Meer		
Markus Czub		
Mohamed Faizal Abdul-		
Careem		